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1.  Preparation Policy of the Consolidated Financial Statements
 The consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (hereinafter referred to as “IFRS”) pursuant to the 

provisions of Article 93 of the Ordinance on Terminology, Forms, and Preparation Methods of 

Consolidated Financial Statements (Ordinance of the Ministry of Finance No. 28 of 1976; 

hereinafter referred to as the “Ordinance on Consolidated Financial Statements”).

2. Audit Certification
In accordance with the provisions of Article 193-2, paragraph 1 of the Financial Instruments 

and Exchange Act, the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2019 were audited by Ernst & Young ShinNihon LLC.

3.  Particular Efforts to Secure the Appropriateness of Consolidated 
Financial Statements, etc.
The Company is making particular efforts to ensure the appropriateness of consolidated 

financial statements, etc. Specifically, in order to establish a system for gaining proper 

understanding of the details and revisions of accounting standards and relevant guidance and 

responding accordingly, the Company has joined the Financial Accounting Standards 

Foundation and attends seminars and workshops held by the foundation.

4.  Development of a System for Fair Preparation of Consolidated Financial 
Statements, etc. in Accordance with IFRS
In order to prepare appropriate consolidated financial statements under IFRS, the Company 

keeps up to date with the latest accounting standards and assesses their impact by obtaining 

press releases and standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as 

necessary. The Company has also formulated the Group Accounting Policies in compliance 

with IFRS and conducts its accounting based on those policies. In addition, the Company 

attends seminars and workshops held by the Financial Accounting Standards Foundation, audit 

firms and other organizations, thereby accumulating expertise within the Company.

Consolidated statement of financial position
(million yen)

Notes Transition date 
(April 1, 2017)

As of 
March 31, 2018

As of 
March 31, 2019

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7, 21 70,209 75,117 82,288

Trade and other receivables 8, 37 685,295 758,029 754,679

Contract assets 27 132,500 126,935 124,039

Inventories 9 757,793 836,865 917,812

Income taxes receivable 6,796 1,766 19,076

Other financial assets 10, 37 4,912 7,157 4,471

Other current assets 11 68,871 77,684 86,290

Total current assets 1,726,379 1,883,556 1,988,658

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12, 21 1,661,123 1,732,154 1,835,229

Goodwill 13 5,137 4,473 4,445

Intangible assets 13 66,918 73,163 82,567

Investment property 15 60,403 59,682 59,425

Investments accounted for using equity method 6, 18, 21 332,428 289,223 315,064

Retirement benefit asset 24 11,224 16,459 16,380

Deferred tax assets 19 27,674 24,467 36,609

Other financial assets 10, 21, 37 426,418 393,668 360,133

Other non-current assets 11, 21 11,523 10,322 10,686

Total non-current assets 2,602,853 2,603,616 2,720,543

Total assets 6 4,329,232 4,487,173 4,709,201
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(million yen)

Notes Transition date 
(April 1, 2017)

As of 
March 31, 2018

As of 
March 31, 2019

Liabilities and equity

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 20, 21, 37 524,727 560,381 584,939

Bonds payable, borrowings, and lease obligations 21, 37 271,767 317,494 329,400

Contract liabilities 27 33,465 53,588 59,060

Income taxes payable, etc. 16,155 43,601 16,399

Provisions 23 8,622 8,594 14,336

Other financial liabilities 22, 37 89,884 92,612 99,097

Other current liabilities 11 187,016 213,876 222,705

Total current liabilities 1,131,639 1,290,149 1,325,938

Non-current liabilities

Bonds payable, borrowings, and lease obligations 21, 37 1,153,753 1,073,734 1,194,478

Retirement benefit liability 24 123,989 128,341 133,999

Provisions 23 36,537 35,914 30,438

Deferred tax liabilities 19 10,279 5,162 3,550

Other financial liabilities 22, 37 27,588 22,109 17,140

Other non-current liabilities 11 9,197 9,696 11,895

Total non-current liabilities 1,361,346 1,274,959 1,391,503

Total liabilities 2,492,986 2,565,108 2,717,442

Equity

Share capital 25 147,143 147,143 147,143

Capital surplus 25 646,582 646,634 646,793

Retained earnings 25 1,050,635 1,138,091 1,241,420

Treasury shares 25 (178,853) (179,070) (180,670)

Other components of equity 115,941 109,907 71,650

Equity attributable to owners of parent 1,781,449 1,862,707 1,926,337

Non-controlling interests 54,796 59,357 65,422

Total equity 1,836,245 1,922,065 1,991,759

Total liabilities and equity 4,329,232 4,487,173 4,709,201

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
(million yen)

Notes
Fiscal 2017

(April 1, 2017 – 
March 31, 2018)

Fiscal 2018
(April 1, 2018 – 
March 31, 2019)

Revenue 27 3,627,248 3,873,662

Cost of sales 12, 13, 24, 29 (3,054,388) (3,328,475)

Gross profit 572,860 545,186

Selling, general and administrative expenses 12, 13, 24, 28, 29, 30 (336,949) (357,323)

Share of profit (loss) of entities accounted for using equity 
method 6, 18 (10,173) 42,685

Other income 31 30,619 30,877

Other expenses 32 (37,979) (29,355)

Business profit 6 218,378 232,070

Impairment losses 6, 16 (28,453) (10,252)

Loss on remeasurement of retained interest (18,717) –

Expenses for treatment of PCB waste (3,850) –

Operating profit 167,357 221,818

Finance income 6, 33 1,546 2,083

Finance costs 6, 33 (16,026) (14,588)

Profit before tax 152,877 209,313

Income tax expense 19 (49,723) (39,488)

Profit 103,153 169,825

Profit attributable to

Owners of parent 97,635 163,509

Non-controlling interests 5,518 6,315

Profit 103,153 169,825

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share (yen) 35 169.34 283.81

Diluted earnings per share (yen) 35 169.34 283.76
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income Consolidated statement of changes in equity
(million yen)

Notes
Fiscal 2017

(April 1, 2017 – 
March 31, 2018)

Fiscal 2018
(April 1, 2018 – 
March 31, 2019)

Profit 103,153 169,825

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans 24, 34 4,510 (4,270)

Net change in fair value of equity instruments designated as 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 34, 37 13,751 (23,091)

Share of other comprehensive income of investments 
accounted for using equity method 18, 34 602 (430)

Total of items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 18,864 (27,793)

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 34 (2,098) (4,445)

Effective portion of cash flow hedges 34 2,649 (383)

Share of other comprehensive income of investments 
accounted for using equity method 18, 34 1,535 (10,824)

Total of items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 2,086 (15,653)

Total other comprehensive income 20,950 (43,446)

Comprehensive income 124,104 126,378

Comprehensive income attributable to

Owners of parent 117,483 120,693

Non-controlling interests 6,621 5,685

Comprehensive income 124,104 126,378

(million yen)

Notes

Equity attributable to owners of parent

Other components of equity

Share capital Capital
surplus

Retained
earnings

Treasury
shares

Remeasure-
ments

of defined 
benefit
plans

Net change in
fair value of

equity instruments
designated as
measured at

fair value
through other

comprehensive
income

Balance as of April 1, 2017 147,143 646,582 1,050,635 (178,853) – 119,153

Profit – – 97,635 – – –

Other comprehensive income – – – – 4,527 13,819

Comprehensive income – – 97,635 – 4,527 13,819

Purchase of treasury shares – – – (226) – –

Disposal of treasury shares – (4) – 10 – –

Change in t reasury shares ar ising f rom 
change in equity in entities accounted for 
using equity method

– – – 0 – –

Dividends 26 – – (34,605) – – –

Share-based payment transactions 30 – – – – – –

Changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries – 56 – – – –

Transfer from other components of equity to 
retained earnings – – 24,427 – (4,527) (19,900)

Transfer to non-financial assets 37 – – – – – –

Other – – – – – –

Total transactions with owners – 52 (10,178) (216) (4,527) (19,900)

Balance as of March 31, 2018 147,143 646,634 1,138,091 (179,070) – 113,073

Notes

Equity attributable to owners of parent

Non-controlling
interests Total equity

Other components of equity

Total
Exchange

differences on
translation of

foreign
operations

Effective
portion of cash

flow hedges
Total

Balance as of April 1, 2017 – (3,212) 115,941 1,781,449 54,796 1,836,245

Profit – – – 97,635 5,518 103,153

Other comprehensive income (1,805) 3,307 19,847 19,847 1,102 20,950

Comprehensive income (1,805) 3,307 19,847 117,483 6,621 124,104

Purchase of treasury shares – – – (226) – (226)

Disposal of treasury shares – – – 5 – 5

Change in treasury shares arising from 
change in equity in entities accounted for 
using equity method

– – – 0 – 0

Dividends 26 – – – (34,605) (2,176) (36,781)

Share-based payment transactions 30 – – – – – –

Changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries – – – 56 (56) –

Transfer from other components of equity 
to retained earnings – – (24,427) – – –

Transfer to non-financial assets 37 – (1,454) (1,454) (1,454) – (1,454)

Other – – – – 172 172

Total transactions with owners – (1,454) (25,882) (36,224) (2,060) (38,285)

Balance as of March 31, 2018 (1,805) (1,359) 109,907 1,862,707 59,357 1,922,065
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(million yen)

Notes

Equity attributable to owners of parent

Other components of equity

Share capital Capital
surplus

Retained
earnings

Treasury
shares

Remeasure-
ments

of defined 
benefit
plans

Net change in
fair value of

equity instruments
designated as
measured at

fair value
through other

comprehensive
income

Balance as of April 1, 2018 147,143 646,634 1,138,091 (179,070) – 113,073

Profit – – 163,509 – – –

Other comprehensive income – – – – (4,630) (23,108)

Comprehensive income – – 163,509 – (4,630) (23,108)

Purchase of treasury shares – – – (1,627) – –

Disposal of treasury shares – (16) – 27 – –

Change in t reasury shares ar ising f rom 
change in equity in entities accounted for 
using equity method

– – – – – –

Dividends 26 – – (54,784) – – –

Share-based payment transactions 30 – 170 – – – –

Changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries – 4 – – – –

Transfer from other components of equity to 
retained earnings – – (5,396) – 4,630 766

Transfer to non-financial assets 37 – – – – – –

Other – – – – – –

Total transactions with owners – 158 (60,181) (1,600) 4,630 766

Balance as of March 31, 2019 147,143 646,793 1,241,420 (180,670) – 90,730

Notes

Equity attributable to owners of parent

Non-controlling
interests Total equity

Other components of equity

Total
Exchange

differences on
translation of

foreign
operations

Effective
portion of cash

flow hedges
Total

Balance as of April 1, 2018 (1,805) (1,359) 109,907 1,862,707 59,357 1,922,065

Profit – – – 163,509 6,315 169,825

Other comprehensive income (14,742) (334) (42,816) (42,816) (630) (43,446)

Comprehensive income (14,742) (334) (42,816) 120,693 5,685 126,378

Purchase of treasury shares – – – (1,627) – (1,627)

Disposal of treasury shares – – – 10 – 10

Change in t reasury shares ar ising f rom 
change in equity in entities accounted for 
using equity method

– – – – – –

Dividends 26 – – – (54,784) (1,972) (56,756)

Share-based payment transactions 30 – – – 170 – 170

Changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries – – – 4 (4) –

Transfer from other components of equity to 
retained earnings – – 5,396 – – –

Transfer to non-financial assets 37 – (838) (838) (838) – (838)

Other – – – – 2,356 2,356

Total transactions with owners – (838) 4,558 (57,064) 379 (56,684)

Balance as of March 31, 2019 (16,547) (2,532) 71,650 1,926,337 65,422 1,991,759

Consolidated statement of cash flow
(million yen)

Notes Fiscal 2017
(April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018)

Fiscal 2018
(April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 152,877 209,313

Depreciation and amortization 182,646 196,243

Changes in allowance (724) (23)

Interest and dividend income (9,427) (10,627)

Interest expenses 15,446 13,648

Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables (72,082) 2,533

Decrease (increase) in inventories (78,270) (82,525)

Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables 30,010 19,691

Other 132,500 (669)

Subtotal 352,977 347,585

Interest and dividends received 16,355 19,014

Interest paid (12,906) (12,606)

Income taxes paid (28,067) (85,741)

Cash flows from operating activities 328,358 268,251

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, 
and investment property (268,379) (312,578)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment, 
intangible assets, and investment property 2,994 488

Purchase of investments (10,847) (8,394)

Proceeds from sale of investments 64,798 6,889

Other (5,020) 243

Cash flows from investing activities (216,454) (313,351)

(million yen)

Notes Fiscal 2017
(April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018)

Fiscal 2018
(April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings 36 4,556 18,752

Increase (decrease) in commercial papers 36 (1,999) 77,000

Proceeds from long-term borrowings 36 378,474 213,499

Repayments of long-term borrowings 36 (398,061) (200,487)

Proceeds from issuance of bonds 36 20,000 30,000

Redemption of bonds 36 (50,000) (15,000)

Payments for purchase of treasury shares (226) (1,627)

Dividends paid to owners of parent 26 (34,510) (54,640)

Other 36 (18,060) (15,614)

Cash flows from financing activities (99,828) 51,882

Effect of exchange rate change on cash and cash equivalents (7,167) 388

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 4,908 7,170

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 70,209 75,117

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 7 75,117 82,288
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Reporting Entity

JFE Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) is an incorporated company 

established under Japan’s Companies Act and is located in Japan.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company, as of March 31, 

2019, encompass the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and its 

interests in affiliates and joint arrangements of the Company.

Details of the Group’s business are described in  

“6. Segment Information.”

2. Basis of Preparation
(1)  Statement of compliance with IFRS and notes on  

first-time adoption
The Company meets the requirements of a “specified company 

complying with designated international accounting standards” as 

specified in Article 1-2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Regulations, and the Company therefore prepares its consolidated 

financial statements in accordance with IFRS, in accordance with 

Article 93 of the Consolidated Financial Statements Regulations.

The Group adopted IFRS for the first time in the fiscal year ended 

March 31, 2019. The date of transition to IFRS (“transition date”) is 

April 1, 2017. The effects of the transition to IFRS on the financial 

position, business results, and cash flows of the Group as of the 

transition date and comparative year are described in “41.  

First-time Adoption.”

With the exception of IFRSs not adopted early and the exemptions 

permitted under IFRS 1, “First-time Adoption of International Financial 

Reporting Standards” (“IFRS 1”), the Group’s accounting practices are in 

compliance with IFRS effective as of March 31, 2019. Exemptions used 

are described in “41. First-time Adoption.”

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year 

ended March 31, 2019 were authorized for issue on June 21, 2019 

by the Board of Directors.

(2)  Basis of measurement
The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared 

based on acquisition cost, with the exception of financial instruments, 

etc., described in “3. Significant Accounting Policies.”

(3) Functional currency and reporting currency
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in 

Japanese yen, which is the Company’s functional currency. Amounts 

less than one million yen are rounded down.

3. Significant Accounting Policies
(1) Basis of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those companies over which the Company has 

control. If the Group has an exposure or right to variable returns from 

involvement in the investee, and has the ability to use its power over 

the investee to affect the amount of returns, then it is regarded as 

controlling the investee.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 

consolidated financial statements of the Group from the date of 

acquisition of control to the date of loss of control.

If there is a change in equity interest in a subsidiary without loss of 

control, it is accounted for as a capital transaction. If there is a change 

in equity interest in a subsidiary accompanied by a loss of control, the 

subsidiary’s assets and liabilities, non-controlling interests related to 

the subsidiary, and other components of equity are derecognized, 

with any gain or loss resulting therefrom recognized in profit or loss.

For subsidiaries whose reporting periods end on a date that differs 

from that of the parent entity, provisional financial statements as of 

the consolidated reporting date are used.

(ii) Associates and joint arrangements
Associates: An entity in which the Group owns at least 20% and at 

most 50% of the voting rights is considered an associate unless it can 

be clearly demonstrated that the Company cannot exercise influence 

over financial and operating policy decisions of the entity. An entity in 

which the Group owns less than 20% of the voting rights is 

considered an associate if the Company can exercise influence over 

financial and operating policy decisions of the entity. Investments in 

associates are accounted for using the equity accounting method.

A joint arrangement is an arrangement in which two or more 

parties have joint control such that decisions about the relevant 

activities of the arrangement require the unanimous consent of the 

parties sharing control. If the parties that share joint control have 

rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the 

arrangement, it is called a joint operation. If the parties that share joint 

control have rights to the net assets of the arrangement, it is called a 

joint venture. In relation to its interest in a joint operation, the Group 

recognizes its share of assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses. Joint 

ventures are accounted for using the equity accounting method.

For associates whose reporting periods end on a date that differs 

from that of the parent entity, provisional financial statements as of 

the consolidated reporting date are prepared.

For JSW Steel Limited, provisional financial statements are 

prepared based on December 31 as the reporting date because local 

legislation imposes restrictions on when certain information becomes 

available to the Company. Necessary adjustments have been made 

for material transactions or events disclosed between JSW Steel 

Limited’s provisional reporting date and the consolidated  

reporting date.

(iii) Consolidation eliminations
The balances of receivables and payables and transactions within the 

Group, and unrealized gains and losses arising from transactions 

within the Group, have been eliminated when preparing consolidated 

financial statements.

(2) Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.

Identifiable assets acquired through business combinations, 

liabilities assumed, non-controlling interests of the acquiree, and 

goodwill are recognized on the acquisition date (the date on which 

the acquirer obtains control of the acquiree). As a general rule, 

identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured at 

fair value.

If the total value of the fair value of consideration (including 

contingent consideration) transferred in the business combination, the 

amount of any non-controlling interests of the acquiree, and the fair 

value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree 

(“Value A”) exceeds the net value (usually the fair value) of the 

acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities assumed (“Value B”), the 

excess is recognized as goodwill. If, on the other hand, Value A is less 

than Value B, the difference is recognized in profit or loss as of the 

acquisition date.

Acquisition costs incurred are recognized as expenses when incurred.

For each individual transaction, the Company chooses to measure 

non-controlling interests at fair value or as a proportionate share of 

the fair value of identifiable net assets of the acquiree.

(3) Foreign currency translation
(i) Translation of foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 

currency of each company using the exchange rate or similar rate 

prevailing on the transaction date. Monetary items denominated in 

foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period are translated 

into the functional currency at the exchange rate prevailing at the end 

of the reporting period, and the resulting exchange differences are 

recognized in profit or loss. When the valuation difference of a 

non-monetary item is recognized in other comprehensive income, any 

exchange component is recognized in other comprehensive income, 

and when a non-monetary item is recognized in profit or loss, any 

exchange component is recognized in profit or loss.

(ii) Translation of foreign operations
Assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the 

exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. In 

addition, revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated 

at the average exchange rates for the reporting period unless 

exchange rates fluctuated significantly during the period. Exchange 

differences arising from translation are recognized in other 

comprehensive income, and the accumulated amount is included in 

other components of equity.

When disposing of foreign operations, the cumulative amount of 

exchange differences related to the foreign operations is recognized 

in profit or loss at the time of disposal. Note that the Group has used 

the exemption specified in IFRS 1 that permits it to transfer the 

cumulative exchange differences that existed at the IFRS transition 

date to retained earnings.

(4) Financial instruments
(i) Financial assets

a. Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified either as financial assets measured 

at amortized cost or as financial assets measured at fair value at 

the time of initial recognition. The Group recognizes a financial 

asset on the transaction date on which it becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the financial asset.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are classified 

as financial assets measured at amortized cost:

•  The asset is held in a business model of which the objective is 

to hold the asset in order to collect its contractual cash flows

•  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 

specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding

Financial assets other than financial assets measured at amortized 

cost are classified as financial assets measured at fair value.

With the exception of equity financial assets held for trading 

purposes that must be measured at fair value through profit or 

loss, equity financial assets measured at fair value are individually 

classified either as measured at fair value through profit or loss or 

as measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, 

with that classification being made when the asset is initially 

recognized and applying continuously thereafter.

With the exception of financial assets measured at fair value 

through profit or loss, financial assets are measured at fair value at 

initial recognition plus transaction costs directly attributable to the 

acquisition. Financial assets measured at fair value through profit 

or loss are measured at fair value at initial recognition, and 

transaction costs directly attributable to the transaction are 

recognized in profit or loss.

b. Measurement subsequent to initial recognition
(a) Financial assets measured at amortized cost
After initial recognition, measurement is the amortized cost 

using the effective interest method.

(b)  Financial assets measured at fair value through 
profit or loss

After initial recognition, measurement is the fair value with 

subsequent changes recognized in profit or loss.

(c)  Equity financial assets measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income

After initial recognition, measurement is the fair value with 

subsequent changes recognized in other comprehensive income.

Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income are 

transferred to retained earnings when an asset is derecognized 

or its fair value declines significantly (except when recovery is 

deemed probable); they are not transferred to profit or loss. 

Dividends derived from such financial assets are recognized as 

profit or loss.

c. Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to 

receive cash flows have extinguished or when the contractual 

rights to receive cash flows have been transferred and substantially 

all risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are 

transferred to another entity.

d. Impairment
For financial assets measured at amortized cost, the Company 

recognizes allowances for doubtful accounts based on expected 

credit losses.

Allowances for doubtful accounts are calculated as the present 

value of the difference between the contractual cash flows due to 
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the Group and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive.

The Group determines whether the credit risk on each financial 

asset has increased significantly since initial recognition on each 

reporting date, and if the credit risk has not increased significantly 

since initial recognition, the amount of the allowance for doubtful 

accounts is assessed based on the expected credit losses 

(expected credit losses over 12 months) resulting from default 

events that may occur within 12 months. If, on the reporting date, 

credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since 

initial recognition, the amount of the allowance for doubtful 

accounts is assessed based on the expected credit losses arising 

from all possible default events over the expected lifetime of the 

financial asset (expected credit losses over full lifetime). However, 

in the case of trade receivables, contract assets, and lease 

receivables that do not contain a significant financing component, 

regardless of the above, the amount of the allowance for doubtful 

accounts is always measured using the expected credit losses for 

the instrument’s full lifetime.

A receivable is determined to be credit-impaired when a fact 

such as the commencement of legal liquidation proceedings due 

to the obligor’s bankruptcy, etc. or the significant deterioration of 

the obligor’s financial condition occurs. When it becomes apparent 

that a receivable will be unrecoverable in the future due to a 

write-off under the provisions of the Corporate Reorganization Act, 

etc., the carrying amount of the receivable is directly reduced.

Provisions of allowances for doubtful accounts on financial 

assets are recognized in profit or loss. In the case of events that 

reduce the allowance for doubtful accounts, reversals of 

allowances for doubtful accounts are recognized in profit or loss.

Estimates of allowances for doubtful accounts relating to 

financial assets reflect the following.

•  Unbiased probability-weighted amounts calculated by 

evaluating a range of possible outcomes

• Time value of money

•  Rational and supportable information about past events, 

current conditions, and forecasts of future economic 

conditions, available at the reporting date without undue cost 

or effort

(ii) Financial liabilities
a. Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified either as financial liabilities 

measured at amortized cost or as financial liabilities measured at 

fair value through profit or loss at the time of initial recognition. 

The Group initially recognizes issued debt securities on the date 

of issue, and other financial liabilities are initially recognized on 

the transaction date on which the Group becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the financial liability.

Financial liabilit ies measured at amortized cost are 

measured at fair value minus transaction costs directly 

at tributable to the issue of the instruments at the time of 

init ial recognition. However, financial liabilit ies measured at 

fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value at 

the time of init ial recognition.

b. Measurement subsequent to initial recognition
(a) Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost
After initial recognition, measurement is the amortized cost 

using the effective interest method.

(b)  Financial liabilities measured at fair value through 
profit or loss

After initial recognition, measurement is the fair value with 

subsequent changes recognized in profit or loss.

c. Derecognition
Financial liabilities are derecognized when the financial liabilities 

extinguish; that is, when the liabilities are discharged, are 

cancelled, or expire.

(iii) Derivative and hedge accounting
The Group enters into derivative transactions such as forward 

exchange contracts and interest rate swaps in order to hedge foreign 

exchange risk, interest rate risk, and the like.

At the inception of the hedge, the Group formally designates and 

documents the risk management purpose and strategy for the hedging 

relationship and the implementation of the hedge. This documentation 

identifies the hedging instrument, the item or transaction being 

hedged, the nature of the risk being hedged, and the method of 

evaluating the effectiveness of the hedging instrument in offsetting the 

exposure to changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item 

due to the risk being hedged. The Group expects these hedges to be 

highly effective in offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows due to 

the risks being hedged; however, the hedges are assessed on an 

ongoing basis to determine whether they have actually been highly 

effective or not throughout the hedging periods.

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value. After initial recognition, 

fair value is measured and subsequent changes are treated as shown 

immediately below.

a. Fair value hedges
Changes in the fair value of derivatives used as hedging 

instruments are recognized in profit or loss or other comprehensive 

income. Changes in the fair value of the hedged item corresponding 

to the hedged risk are recognized in profit or loss or other 

comprehensive income, with the carrying amount of the hedged 

item being adjusted.

b. Cash flow hedges
The portion of the change in the fair value of derivatives used as 

hedging instruments that is determined to be an effective hedge is 

recognized in other comprehensive income, and the cumulative 

amount is included in other components of equity. The portion of 

hedges that is ineffective is recognized in profit or loss. Amounts 

accumulated in other components of equity are reclassified from 

other components of equity to profit or loss in the accounting 

period in which the transaction being hedged affects profit or loss. 

However, if the forecast transaction being hedged subsequently 

results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-financial 

liability, the amount accumulated in other components of equity is 

treated as an adjustment to the initial book value of that non-

financial asset or non-financial liability.

Hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively when the hedging 

instrument expires, is sold, or is terminated or exercised, or if the 

derivative no longer meets the requirements for hedge accounting. 

When the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the 

amount accumulated in other components of equity is immediately 

reclassified from other components of equity to profit or loss.

c. Derivatives not designated as hedges
Changes in the fair value of such derivatives are recognized in 

profit or loss.

(iv) Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and presented at net 

when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized 

amounts and intends to settle on a net basis or intends to realize the 

asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(5) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, readily available 

deposits, and short-term investments maturing within three months 

that are readily convertible to cash and subject to an insignificant risk 

of changes in value.

(6) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

Cost consists of material costs, direct labor costs, other direct costs, 

and an appropriate allocation of related manufacturing overhead 

costs. Net realizable value is calculated by deducting the estimated 

selling costs from the estimated selling price. Cost is mainly calculated 

based on the weighted-average method.

(7) Property, plant and equipment (excluding leased assets)
The Group uses the cost model to measure the carrying value of 

property, plant and equipment subsequent to its recognition. Under 

this model, property, plant and equipment is carried at its cost less 

any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 

losses.

Property, plant and equipment other than land and construction in 

progress are mainly depreciated using the straight-line method.

The estimated useful lives of major asset items are as follow:

• Buildings and structures: 2–75 years

• Machinery and vehicles: 2–27 years

The estimated useful lives, depreciation methods, and residual values 

of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at the end of each 

fiscal year.

(8) Goodwill and intangible assets
(i) Goodwill
Goodwill is not amortized; it is tested for impairment annually or 

whenever an indication of impairment exists. Impairment losses on 

goodwill are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 

and are not subsequently reversed.

Goodwill is carried at book value less accumulated impairment losses.

(ii) Intangible assets (excluding leased assets)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost at the time 

of initial recognition. Intangible assets acquired in business 

combinations are measured at fair value as of the acquisition date.

The Group uses the cost model to measure the carrying value of 

intangible assets subsequent to their recognition. Under this model, 

intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization 

and any accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible assets whose useful lives can be determined are amortized 

using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets mainly comprise software for internal use and 

have estimated useful lives of 2–10 years.

(9) Leases
Leases for which all risks and rewards of ownership have effectively 

been transferred to the Group are classified as finance leases, and 

leases other than finance leases are classified as operating leases. 

The Group determines whether an arrangement contains a lease, 

based on the substance of the arrangement, even when it does not 

legally take the form of a lease.

(i) Finance leases
Assets and lease liabilities related to finance leases are recognized at 

the commencement date of the lease based on the lesser of the fair 

value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum 

lease payments.

Property, plant and equipment acquired as a finance lease are 

depreciated using the straight-line method over the shorter of the 

estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Lease payments are allocated to finance costs and repayments of 

lease obligations based on the interest method, and finance costs are 

recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(ii) Operating leases
Operating lease payments are recognized on a straight-line basis over 

the lease term.

(10) Investment property
Investment property is real estate held for the purpose of earning 

rental income, capital gains, or both.

The Group uses the cost model to measure the carrying value of 

investment property subsequent to its recognition. Under this model, 

investment property is carried at cost less any accumulated 

depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Investment property other than land is depreciated mainly using 

the straight-line method over the estimated useful life. The estimated 

useful life of the Company’s main investment properties is 26 years.

The estimated useful lives, depreciation methods, and residual values 

of investment properties are reviewed at the end of each fiscal year.

(11) Impairment of non-financial assets
For property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, if there is 

any indication at the end of each reporting period that an asset may 

be impaired, the asset is assessed based on its recoverable value, 

being the higher of fair value less costs to sell and its value in use; if 

the carrying value of the asset exceeds its recoverable value, then the 

asset is impaired and is written down to its recoverable value.

Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for 

impairment annually and whenever there is any indication of impairment.
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Impairment losses recognized on assets other than goodwill in 

previous years are assessed at the end of each reporting period to 

determine whether there is any indication that the recognized 

impairment loss may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any 

such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated, and if the 

recoverable amount exceeds the carrying amount of the asset or the 

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs, an impairment 

reversal is recognized and the carrying amount is increased to the 

recoverable amount subject to the condition that the carrying amount 

of the asset may not exceed the carrying amount (net of accumulated 

depreciation or accumulated amortization) that would have been 

determined had no impairment loss been previously recognized. 

Impairment losses recognized on goodwill are not reversed in 

subsequent periods.

(12) Post-employment benefits
(i) Defined benefit plans
Defined benefit plans are any retirement benefit plans other than 

defined contribution plans. For each separate plan, the defined 

benefit obligation is calculated by estimating the future benefits 

earned as compensation for services provided by employees in 

previous and current fiscal years, and discounting that amount to the 

present value. The fair value of plan assets is deducted from the 

result of that calculation. The discount rate is determined with 

reference to the market yields of high quality corporate bonds that 

are denominated in the same currency as the expected benefit 

payment and that have approximately the same maturity as the 

Group’s defined benefit obligation.

If a retirement benefit plan is revised, costs related to the variable 

portion of benefits related to employees’ past service are immediately 

recognized in profit or loss.

The Group recognizes changes in net defined benefit liability 

(asset) due to remeasurement in other comprehensive income and 

immediately transfers the amounts to retained earnings.

(ii) Defined contribution plans
Expenses related to defined contribution plans are recognized as 

expenses in the period in which the employees provide the services.

(13) Share-based payment
The Company has instituted share-based payment plans through 

which a portion of the compensation of directors (excluding outside 

directors) and executive officers (excluding non-residents under 

income tax law) of the Company and its operating companies is 

provided in the form of cash-settled share-based payments and 

equity-settled share-based payments through employee stock 

ownership plans. The Group’s objective is to establish a clear link 

between compensation and the Group’s operating performance and 

equity value and encourage the sharing of value with shareholders, 

thereby creating a greater incentive to contribute toward enhancing 

shareholder value over the medium and long term.

For equity-settled share-based payments, compensation for 

services received is measured with reference to the fair value of 

Company shares granted. The calculated consideration for services is 

recognized as an expense, and the same amount is recognized as an 

increase in equity.

For cash-settled share-based payments, the fair value of the 

amount paid is recognized as a liability, and changes in the fair 

value of the liability are recognized in profit or loss over the period 

up until an unconditional right to compensation is established.

(14) Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation 

(legal obligation or constructive obligation) resulting from past events, 

it is likely that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 

will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the 

amount of the obligation can be made.

If the impact of the time value of money is material, provisions are 

measured at a discounted amount calculated using a discount rate 

that reflects the risks specific to the liability.

(15) Revenue
With the exception of interest, dividend income, etc., under IFRS 9 

Financial Instruments, the Group uses the following five-step approach 

in recognizing revenue that reflects the amount of consideration to 

which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for the transfer 

of goods and services to customers:

Step 1: Identify the contract with the customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3: Determine the transaction price

Step 4:  Allocate the transaction price to a distinct performance 

obligation of the contract

Step 5:  Recognize revenue when the performance obligation is 

fulfilled (or as it is fulfilled).

With respect to sales of steel products, etc. in the steel business, 

revenues are mainly recognized at the point of shipment, when the 

customer assumes the significant risk and economic value of 

ownership of the product being physically transferred and the right to 

receive payment is confirmed. Consideration for transactions is 

received mainly within one year from the fulfillment of performance 

obligations and includes no significant financing components.

With regard to construction contracts, etc. in the engineering 

business, we mainly estimate the progress of fulfilling performance 

obligations, and revenue is recognized over a fixed period based on 

the degree of progress. Consideration for transactions is mainly 

received in phases during the contract term separately from the 

fulfillment of performance obligations, and the remaining amount is 

received after a fixed period from the fulfillment of all performance 

obligations. Consideration for certain transactions includes significant 

financing components. A cost-based input method is used for 

performance obligations fulfilled over time in order to recognize 

revenue. The cost-based input method excludes the effects of any 

inputs that do not depict the Group’s performance in transferring 

control of goods or services to the customer. When a cost incurred is 

not proportionate to progress, the Group’s performance is faithfully 

depicted by adjusting the input method to recognize revenue only to 

the extent of that cost incurred.

With respect to sales of steel products, etc. in the trading business, 

revenues are mainly recognized at the point of delivery to the 

customer, when ownership rights and physical ownership of the 

product are physically transferred to the customer and the significant 

risk and economic value associated with ownership and the right to 

receive payment is confirmed. In addition, for certain transactions in 

the trading business, the Company has the responsibility to carry out 

work as an agent. Consideration for transactions is received mainly 

within one year from the fulfillment of performance obligations and 

includes no significant financing components.

Revenue is measured at the amount that deducts price reduction and 

rebates, etc. from the promised value in the contract with the customer.

When the Group is engaged in a transaction as a party to the 

transaction, revenue is presented as the total consideration received 

from the customer. When the Group is engaged in transactions as an 

agent for a third party, revenue is presented as a fee, calculated as the 

total amount of consideration received from the customer minus the 

amount collected for the third party.

(16) Business profit
Business profit is profit before income taxes excluding financial 

income and one-time items of materially significant value. It is a 

benchmark indicator of the Company’s consolidated earnings.

(17) Finance income and costs
Finance income consists mainly of interest income, and finance costs 

consist mainly of interest expenses. Interest income is recognized as 

income when incurred using the effective interest method. Interest 

expense is recognized as an expense when incurred using the 

effective interest method.

(18) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognized in profit or loss when the right to 

receive the dividend is established.

Of the shares and investments held by the Group, dividends 

received on those held for the purpose of facilitating business 

transactions are included in other income.

(19) Income taxes
Income tax expense consists of current tax expense and deferred tax 

expense. These items are recognized in profit or loss except when they 

arise from items that are directly recognized in other comprehensive 

income or equity and when they arise from business combinations.

Current tax expense is measured in an amount that reflects the 

amount the Company expects the tax authorities to refund or expects 

to pay to the tax authorities. The tax rate and tax law used to calculate 

the amount of tax are those that are enacted or substantively enacted 

at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are recognized for 

temporary differences, which are the differences between the 

carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and for 

unused tax losses and unused tax credits. They are measured using 

the tax rate and tax law applicable to the fiscal year in which the 

temporary difference, etc., is expected to be resolved.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary 

differences excluding the following:

• Temporary differences arising from initial recognition of goodwill

•  Temporary differences resulting from the initial recognition of an 

asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and does not affect accounting income or taxable 

income at the time of the transaction

•  Taxable temporary differences arising from investments in 

subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint arrangements, 

when the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of 

the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary 

differences, unused tax losses, and unused tax credits, but only to 

the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 

against which the deductible temporary difference, etc., can be 

utilized, except when the deductible temporary difference, etc., results 

from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that 

is not a business combination and does not affect accounting income 

or taxable income at the time of the transaction.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary 

differences arising from investments in subsidiaries and associates, 

and interests in joint arrangements, only when it is probable that the 

temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and it is 

probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 

deductible temporary difference can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only when 

there is a legally enforceable right to offset income taxes payable and 

income taxes receivable and either of the following criteria is met:

•  The deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to 

income tax levied on the same taxable entity by the same  

tax authority

•  The deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to 

income tax levied on separate taxable entities by the same tax 

authority, and the taxable entities intend to settle income taxes 

receivable and income taxes payable on a net basis or realize 

the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

(20) Equity
(i) Share capital and capital surplus
Capital paid in by shareholders is recognized in share capital or 

capital surplus.

(ii) Treasury shares
When treasury shares are acquired, the consideration paid, including 

direct transaction costs, is recognized as contra equity.

(21) Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit 

attributable to owners of the parent company by the weighted average 

number of common shares on issue during the fiscal year.

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting for the 

impact of all dilutive potential shares.
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4.  Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Group makes judgments, accounting estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 

accounting policies and the amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. These estimates and assumptions are based on the management’s best 

judgments reflecting historical experiences and various factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. By their nature, however, actual 

results may differ from the estimates and assumptions.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. The effects resulting from revisions of these estimates are recognized in the 

period in which the estimates are revised and in future periods affected by the revision.

Judgments and estimates made in applying accounting policies that have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements are mainly as follows:

•  Scope of subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements (Note “3. Significant Accounting Policies”)

•  Revenue recognition (Note “3. Significant Accounting Policies”)

•  Matters related to financial instruments (Note “3. Significant Accounting Policies” and Note “37. Financial Instruments”)

•  Valuation of inventories (Note “3. Significant Accounting Policies” and Note “9. Inventories”)

•  Impairment of non-financial assets (Note “3. Significant Accounting Policies” and Note “16. Impairment of Non-financial Assets”)

•  Recoverability of deferred tax assets (Note “3. Significant Accounting Policies” and Note “19. Income Taxes”)

•  Valuation and accounting for provisions (Note “3. Significant Accounting Policies” and Note “23. Provisions”)

•  Measurement of defined benefit obligations (Note “3. Significant Accounting Policies” and Note “24. Post-employment Benefits”)

•  Contingencies (Note “40. Contingent Liabilities”)

5. New IFRS Standards Not Yet Adopted
The following is a list of IFRS standards and interpretations newly established or amended by the approval date of the consolidated financial statements that 

the Group has not yet adopted.

IFRS Title
Effective date

(fiscal years beginning 
on or after)

The Group’s application 
date

(fiscal year ending)

Summaries of new or 
amended IFRS 
standards and 
interpretations

IFRS 16 Leases January 1, 2019 March 31, 2020
Amendment to the 
accounting for lease 
agreements

Under IFRS 16, a lessee does not classify leases into finance lease or operating lease, but introduces a single lessee accounting model in which a lessee 

recognizes, for all leases in principle, a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to 

make lease payments. However, a lessee may elect not to apply the above requirement to short-term or low value leases. After the initial recognition of a 

right-of-use asset and a lease liability, depreciation expense of the right-of-use asset and interest expense of the lease liability are recorded.

The estimated impact of the adoption of this standard on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is an increase in total assets and total liabilities 

of approximately ¥100.0 billion, respectively, at April 1, 2019, the date of initial application.

6. Segment Information
(1) Overview of reportable segments

The Group organized under JFE Holdings executes commercial activities through three operating companies—JFE Steel Corporation, JFE Engineering 

Corporation, and JFE Shoji Trade Corporation—in accordance with the characteristics of their respective businesses.

Consolidated reporting segments, one for each operating company, are characterized by their constituent products and services.

Each segment has its own respective products and services. The steel business produces and sells various steel products, processed steel products 

and raw materials, and provides transportation and other related businesses such as facility maintenance and construction. The engineering business 

handles engineering for energy, urban environment, steel structures and industrial machines, recycling, and electricity retailing. The trading business 

purchases, processes, and distributes steel products, raw materials for steel production, nonferrous metal products, and food, etc.

(2) Information on reportable segments
The accounting treatments for the Group’s reported business segments are generally the same as described in “3. Significant Accounting Policies.”

The Group assesses segment performance on the basis of segment profit. Segment profit is profit before tax excluding one-time items of a materially 

significant value.

Intersegment transactions are based on market prices and the like.

Transition date (April 1, 2017)

(million yen)

Steel Engineering Trading Total Adjustments
 (Note)

Amount 
recorded in 

consolidated 
financial 

statements

Segment assets 3,713,843 387,541 630,927 4,732,313 (403,080) 4,329,232

Other assets 

Investments accounted for 
using equity method 257,164 9,537 10,460 277,162 55,265 332,428

Note:  Adjustments to segment assets include corporate assets not allocated to a reportable segment: 116,803 million yen and elimination of intersegment 

receivables and payables, etc.: -519,884 million yen. Corporate assets are assets of the Company.

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 to March 31, 2018)

(million yen)

Steel Engineering Trading Total Adjustments
 (Note)

Amount 
recorded in 

consolidated 
financial 

statements
Revenue

Revenue from external customers 2,378,107 391,223 857,917 3,627,248 – 3,627,248

Intersegment revenue 357,669 10,296 141,451 509,417 (509,417) –

Total 2,735,777 401,519 999,368 4,136,666 (509,417) 3,627,248

Segment profit 187,240 18,736 35,186 241,163 (37,264) 203,898

Impairment losses (28,453)

Loss on remeasurement of remaining 
interest (18,717)

Expenses for treatment of PCB waste (3,850)

Profit before tax 152,877

Segment assets 3,826,432 384,232 711,849 4,922,513 (435,340) 4,487,173

Other items

Depreciation and amortization 168,985 7,540 6,117 182,643 3 182,646

Impairment losses (23,071) (2,797) (2,584) (28,453) – (28,453)

Finance income 1,151 111 510 1,772 (226) 1,546

Finance costs (13,888) (704) (2,010) (16,603) 577 (16,026)

Share of profit of entities accounted for 
using equity method 20,087 1,051 1,439 22,577 (32,751) (10,173)

Investments accounted for using equity 
method 243,505 9,648 12,787 265,941 23,281 289,223

Capital expenditures 282,245 11,495 6,570 300,310 1 300,311

Note: Adjustments are as follows:

•  Adjustments to segment profit include corporate profit not allocated to a reportable segment: 18,010 million yen, elimination of dividend income from 

each reportable segment: -17,780 million yen, and share of loss of entities accounted for using equity method related to Japan Marine United 

Corporation: -31,827 million yen; elimination of other intersegment transactions: -5,667 million yen. Corporate profit is profit of the Company.

•  Adjustments to segment assets include corporate assets not allocated to a reportable segment: 41,866 million yen and elimination of intersegment 

receivables and payables, etc.: -477,207 million yen. Corporate assets are assets of the Company.
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Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 to March 31, 2019)
(million yen)

Steel Engineering Trading Total Adjustments 
(Note)

Amount 
recorded in 

consolidated 
financial 

statements
Revenue

Revenue from external customers 2,441,696 471,673 960,292 3,873,662 – 3,873,662

Intersegment revenue 388,953 14,142 165,568 568,663 (568,663) –

Total 2,830,649 485,815 1,125,861 4,442,326 (568,663) 3,873,662

Segment profit 161,383 20,104 35,761 217,250 2,315 219,566

Impairment losses (10,252)

Profit before tax 209,313

Segment assets 3,951,109 416,079 756,258 5,123,448 (414,246) 4,709,201

Other items

Depreciation and amortization 182,343 7,878 6,020 196,241 2 196,243

Impairment losses (9,736) (470) (44) (10,252) – (10,252)

Finance income 1,451 141 717 2,311 (228) 2,083

Finance costs (11,399) (701) (2,885) (14,986) 398 (14,588)

Share of profit of entities accounted for 
using equity method 38,777 1,351 1,075 41,205 1,480 42,685

Investments accounted for using equity 
method 268,568 10,415 13,814 292,798 22,265 315,064

Capital expenditures 306,285 11,648 11,571 329,504 1 329,505

Note: Adjustments are as follows:

•  Adjustments to segment profit include corporate profit not allocated to a reportable segment: 104,233 million yen, elimination of dividend income 

from each reportable segment: -103,928 million yen, and share of profit of entities accounted for using equity method related to Japan Marine United 

Corporation: 219 million yen; elimination of other intersegment transactions: 1,791 million yen. Corporate profit is profit of the Company.

•  Adjustments to segment assets: Corporate assets not allocated to a reportable segment: 61,666 million yen and elimination of intersegment 

receivables and payables, etc.: -475,913 million yen. Corporate assets are assets of the Company.

(3) Information about the categories of products and services
The information is the same as information on reportable segments.

(4) Information about revenue from external customers by geographical areas
The information is provided in “27. Revenue.”

(5)  Information about non-current assets (excluding financial assets, retirement benefit asset, and deferred tax assets) by 
geographical areas

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Japan 1,659,900 1,737,994 1,847,464

Other 145,206 141,802 144,889

Total 1,805,106 1,879,797 1,992,354

Note: Non-current assets are based on the geographical location of each company of the Group.

(6) Information about major customers
The information is not provided as there is no external customer that accounts for 10% or more of consolidated revenue of the Group.

7. Cash and Cash Equivalents
The breakdown of cash and cash equivalents is as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Cash and bank deposits with maturities of three months 
or less 68,709 73,917 82,283

Negotiable certificates of deposit, etc. 1,500 1,200 5

Total 70,209 75,117 82,288

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost.

The balance of cash and cash equivalents reported in the consolidated statement of financial position as of March 31, 2018 and 2019 is consistent with that 

reported in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

8. Trade and Other Receivables
The breakdown of trade and other receivables is as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Notes and accounts receivable – trade 655,945 728,275 718,931

Other 30,769 31,922 37,339

Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,419) (2,169) (1,590)

Total 685,295 758,029 754,679

Trade and other receivables are stated as net of allowance for doubtful accounts in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Trade and other receivables are classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost.

9. Inventories
The breakdown of inventories is as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Merchandise and finished goods 365,179 399,827 440,417

Work in progress 38,259 43,916 45,987

Raw materials and supplies 354,353 393,121 431,407

Total 757,793 836,865 917,812

Inventories recognized as an expense in “Cost of sales” for the years ended March 31, 2018 and 2019 amounted to ¥2,586,740 million and ¥2,803,908 

million, respectively.
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10. Other Financial Assets
(1) The breakdown of other financial assets is as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Financial assets measured at amortized cost

Leasehold and guarantee deposits 10,696 11,135 11,420

Other 13,087 10,519 9,539

Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,793) (568) (474)

Subtotal 21,990 21,085 20,485

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

Derivative assets 25,683 20,086 21,325

Other 4,027 4,030 3,982

Subtotal 29,711 24,116 25,308

Equity financial assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Equity securities 373,666 349,385 312,311

Investments in capital 5,963 6,238 6,499

Subtotal 379,629 355,623 318,811

Total 431,331 400,826 364,605

Current assets 4,912 7,157 4,471

Non-current assets 426,418 393,668 360,133

Total 431,331 400,826 364,605

Other financial assets are stated as net of allowance for doubtful accounts in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(2) Equity financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
The issuers and fair values of major equity financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are as follows:

(million yen)

Issuers Transition date (April 1, 2017)

Toyota Motor Corporation 34,825

Isuzu Motors Limited 21,255

Kawasaki Heavy Industries, Ltd. 20,520

Formosa Ha Tinh (Cayman) Limited 17,226

SUZUKI MOTOR CORPORATION 16,877

(million yen)

Issuers As of March 31, 2018

Isuzu Motors Limited 23,557

SUZUKI MOTOR CORPORATION 20,923

Formosa Ha Tinh (Cayman) Limited 20,724

TAIYO NIPPON SANSO CORPORATION 20,342

Central Japan Railway Company 16,639

(million yen)

Issuers As of March 31, 2019

TAIYO NIPPON SANSO CORPORATION 21,289

Central Japan Railway Company 21,251

Isuzu Motors Limited 20,988

Formosa Ha Tinh (Cayman) Limited 18,178

SUZUKI MOTOR CORPORATION 17,885

Equity securities and investments in capital are held mainly for the purpose of facilitating business and financial transactions with investees. Therefore, they 

are designated as equity financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

In order to promote the efficiency of held assets and to use them effectively, the Group has sold (derecognized) equity financial assets measured at fair 

value through other comprehensive income.

The fair value and accumulated gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income at the time of sale are as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017
 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018)

Fiscal 2018 
(April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Fair value 64,676 5,552

Accumulated gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive 
income 20,510 1,845

11. Other Assets and Liabilities
The breakdown of other current assets, other non-current assets, other current liabilities, and other non-current liabilities is as follows:

(1) Other current assets and other non-current assets

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Advance payments 9,805 21,852 23,721

Other 70,589 66,154 73,254

Total 80,394 88,006 96,976

Current assets 68,871 77,684 86,290

Non-current assets 11,523 10,322 10,686

Total 80,394 88,006 96,976

(2) Other current liabilities and other non-current liabilities

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Accrued expenses 142,530 158,393 168,469

Other 53,684 65,179 66,130

Total 196,214 223,572 234,600

Current liabilities 187,016 213,876 222,705

Non-current liabilities 9,197 9,696 11,895

Total 196,214 223,572 234,600
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12. Property, Plant and Equipment
The movement of carrying amount for property, plant and equipment during the year is as follows:

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 to March 31, 2018)

(million yen)

Buildings 
and 

structures

Machinery 
and vehicles

Tools, 
furniture 

and fixtures
Land Construction 

in progress Other Total

Balance at the beginning of the year 392,317 743,162 45,153 386,497 61,297 32,695 1,661,123

Acquisition 32,055 177,566 17,572 132 21,913 23,555 272,796

Sale or disposal (1,576) (4,868) (554) (824) (1,075) (271) (9,172)

Depreciation (27,975) (112,528) (14,799) (142) – (7,575) (163,024)

Impairment losses (5,609) (10,521) (184) (5,896) (2,308) (209) (24,730)

Exchange differences on translation of 
foreign operations, etc. (199) (5,415) 41 (622) 603 750 (4,840)

Balance at the end of the year 389,011 787,394 47,228 379,143 80,430 48,946 1,732,154

Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 to March 31, 2019)
(million yen)

Buildings 
and 

structures

Machinery 
and vehicles

Tools, 
furniture 

and fixtures
Land Construction 

in progress Other Total

Balance at the beginning of the year 389,011 787,394 47,228 379,143 80,430 48,946 1,732,154

Acquisition 29,545 188,278 19,312 3,597 45,185 14,870 300,790

Sale or disposal (1,126) (3,347) (362) (40) (758) (26) (5,661)

Depreciation (27,907) (122,362) (16,382) (18) – (9,223) (175,894)

Impairment losses (2,042) (4,976) (29) (889) (146) (22) (8,105)

Exchange differences on translation of 
foreign operations, etc. (2,381) (1,272) (557) (1,268) (2,526) (47) (8,054)

Balance at the end of the year 385,098 843,715 49,209 380,524 122,185 54,496 1,835,229

Notes: 1.  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is included in “Cost of sales” and “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss.

2. Acquisition of construction in progress represents an increase due to new acquisition, net of transfers to each item of property, plant and equipment.

The cost, accumulated depreciation, accumulated impairment losses and carrying amount of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

(million yen)

Buildings and 
structures

Machinery 
and vehicles

Tools, 
furniture and 

fixtures
Land Construction 

in progress Other Total

Transition date (April 1, 2017)

Cost 1,781,517 5,853,912 185,370 404,675 61,297 141,357 8,428,131

Accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses (1,389,200) (5,110,749) (140,216) (18,178) – (108,662) (6,767,007)

Carrying amount 392,317 743,162 45,153 386,497 61,297 32,695 1,661,123

As of March 31, 2018

Cost 1,801,752 5,921,447 187,885 401,948 82,739 161,499 8,557,272

Accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses (1,412,740) (5,134,053) (140,657) (22,804) (2,308) (112,553) (6,825,118)

Carrying amount 389,011 787,394 47,228 379,143 80,430 48,946 1,732,154

As of March 31, 2019

Cost 1,819,010 6,030,497 193,316 404,383 124,298 173,918 8,745,423

Accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses (1,433,911) (5,186,781) (144,107) (23,858) (2,113) (119,421) (6,910,194)

Carrying amount 385,098 843,715 49,209 380,524 122,185 54,496 1,835,229

13. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
(1) Movement of goodwill and intangible assets

The movement of carrying amount for goodwill and intangible assets during the year is as follows:

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 to March 31, 2018)

(million yen)

Goodwill Software Other Total

Balance at the beginning of the year 5,137 56,449 10,469 72,055

Acquisition 3 26,644 161 26,809

Sale or disposal – (308) (4) (312)

Amortization – (18,047) (450) (18,497)

Impairment losses – (675) (217) (893)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, etc. (667) 176 (1,032) (1,523)

Balance at the end of the year 4,473 64,238 8,925 77,637

Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 to March 31, 2019)
(million yen)

Goodwill Software Other Total

Balance at the beginning of the year 4,473 64,238 8,925 77,637

Acquisition 3 27,690 511 28,206

Sale or disposal – (434) (3) (437)

Amortization – (18,909) (347) (19,257)

Impairment losses – (129) (25) (154)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, etc. (31) 1,597 (545) 1,019

Balance at the end of the year 4,445 74,052 8,514 87,012

Note:  Amortization of intangible assets is included in “Cost of sales” and “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit 

or loss.
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The cost, accumulated amortization, accumulated impairment losses and carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets are as follows:

(million yen)

Goodwill Software Other Total

Transition date (April 1, 2017)

Cost 5,137 288,343 23,789 317,270

Accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses – (231,894) (13,320) (245,214)

Carrying amount 5,137 56,449 10,469 72,055

As of March 31, 2018

Cost 4,473 312,377 22,856 339,707

Accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses – (248,138) (13,931) (262,070)

Carrying amount 4,473 64,238 8,925 77,637

As of March 31, 2019

Cost 4,445 337,652 23,031 365,128

Accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses – (263,600) (14,516) (278,116)

Carrying amount 4,445 74,052 8,514 87,012

(2) Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses recorded in “Cost of sales” and “Selling, general and administrative expenses” for the years ended March 31, 2018 

and 2019 amounted to ¥34,714 million and ¥37,271 million, respectively.

14. Lease Transactions
The Group leases machinery, ships, buildings and other assets as a lessee and buildings and other assets as a lesser. Certain lease arrangements include 

renewal options, but no significant lease arrangements include escalation clauses. In addition, there are no material restrictions (such as restrictions related to 

additional borrowings and additional leases) imposed by the lease arrangements.

(1) Finance lease obligations
Future minimum lease payments for leased assets recorded under finance leases and their present value for each payment period are as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Future minimum 
lease payments Present value Future minimum 

lease payments Present value Future minimum 
lease payments Present value

Within one year 5,489 5,044 6,924 6,387 7,977 7,427

Later than one year and within five years 20,537 19,157 25,956 24,666 29,071 27,939

Later than five years 4,847 4,788 14,732 14,317 16,392 16,008

Total 30,874 28,990 47,613 45,371 53,441 51,375

Less: Future finance costs (1,884) – (2,242) – (2,065) –

Total present value 28,990 28,990 45,371 45,371 51,375 51,375

(2) Operating leases
As Lessee

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Within one year 5,726 9,392 8,462

Later than one year and within five years 15,081 25,233 20,811

Later than five years 5,745 5,124 3,990

Total 26,552 39,750 33,264

Future minimum sublease payments expected to be received under non-cancellable subleases are as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Minimum sublease payments received 18,591 16,510 14,046

Minimum lease payments under operating leases and minimum sublease payments received that are recognized as expenses are as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018) Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Minimum lease payments 38,243 39,231

Minimum sublease payments received 3,949 4,054

As lessor

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Within one year 1,106 1,160 1,130

Later than one year and within five years 3,832 3,851 3,550

Later than five years 5,149 4,319 3,488

Total 10,088 9,331 8,170

15. Investment Properties
(1) Movement of investment properties

The movement of carrying amount for investment properties is as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 
(April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018)

Fiscal 2018 
(April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Balance at the beginning of the year 60,403 59,682

Acquisition 706 508

Reclassification from property, plant and equipment 1,881 3,931

Reclassification to property, plant and equipment (1,669) (1,458)

Depreciation (1,126) (1,092)

Impairment losses (407) (1,933)

Sale or disposal (104) (213)

Balance at the end of the year 59,682 59,425

Cost (balance at the beginning of the year) 122,835 129,154

Accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses 
(balance at the beginning of the year) (62,432) (69,471)

Cost (balance at the end of the year) 129,154 132,849

Accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses 
(balance at the end of the year) (69,471) (73,424)
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(2) Fair values
The carrying amount and fair value of investment properties are as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Investment properties 60,403 114,805 59,682 130,755 59,425 133,615

The fair value of investment properties is principally based on the real estate appraisal values provided by independent licensed real estate appraisers.

The fair value hierarchy of investment properties is categorized within Level 3 because unobservable inputs are included.

Fair value hierarchy is described in “37. Financial Instruments.”

(3) Income and expenses arising from investment properties
Rental income and direct sales expenses arising from investment properties are as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 
(April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018)

Fiscal 2018 
(April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Rental income 11,005 11,053

Direct sales expenses arising from investment properties which generated income 3,097 3,095

Direct sales expenses arising from investment properties which did not generate income 56 64

16. Impairment of Non-financial Assets
When the Group assesses whether there is an indication that non-financial assets may be impaired, in principle, the assets are classified as idle assets, leased 

assets, assets for various projects and assets for business use, and then those classified assets are grouped by the smallest unit that generates independent 

cash flows.

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 to March 31, 2018)
The carrying amount was reduced to the recoverable amount mainly for the business assets of JFE Steel Chita Works due to the deteriorated business 

environment, and the reduction was recorded as an impairment loss. Impairment losses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss totaled 28,453 million 

yen, consisting of 10,521 million yen of machinery and vehicles, 5,896 million yen of land, 5,609 million yen of buildings and structures, and 6,425 million 

yen of construction in progress and others. The recoverable amount of the business assets was primarily measured at their value in use, which was calculated 

by discounting the future cash flows at a discount rate of 8.8%.

Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 to March 31, 2019)
The carrying amount was reduced to the recoverable amount mainly for the business assets in Indonesia due to the deteriorated business environment, and 

the reduction was recorded as an impairment loss. Impairment losses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss totaled 10,252 million yen, consisting of 

4,976 million yen of machinery and vehicles, 2,042 million yen of buildings and structures, and 3,232 million yen of investment property and others. The 

recoverable amount of the business assets was primarily measured at their value in use, which was calculated by discounting the future cash flows at a 

discount rate of 10.9%.

17. Subsidiaries
Major subsidiaries

Overview of major subsidiaries at the end of fiscal 2018 is described in “I. Overview of the Company, 4. Overview of subsidiaries and affiliates.”

18. Investments Accounted for Using Equity Method
(1) Material associates

JSW Steel Limited
JSW Steel Limited, located in Mumbai, India, engages primarily in manufacture and sales of steel products.

The condensed consolidated financial statements of JSW Steel Limited are as follows.

For JSW Steel Limited, provisional financial statements are prepared based on December 31 as the reporting date because local legislation imposes 

restrictions on when certain information becomes available to the Company.

However, in the accompanying notes, the condensed consolidated financial statements of JSW Steel Limited that were already released at the transition 

date and the end of each fiscal year are disclosed. Accordingly, financial information as of September 30 is stated in the statement of financial position, 

and financial information for the first nine months of the reporting period ended December 31 is stated in the statement of profit or loss and the statement 

of comprehensive income.

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Current assets 324,750 413,672 456,584

Non-current assets 1,145,014 1,220,368 1,197,047

Total assets 1,469,764 1,634,040 1,653,631

Current liabilities 497,796 548,453 547,421

Non-current liabilities 619,878 677,984 616,315

Total liabilities 1,117,674 1,226,437 1,163,736

Total equity 352,090 407,602 489,894

Equity attributable to owners of parent 356,023 414,401 497,781

Non-controlling interests (3,933) (6,799) (7,886)

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018) Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Revenue 881,936 1,016,940

Profit 56,271 98,272

Other comprehensive income 3,758 (2,135)

Comprehensive income 60,030 96,137

An adjustment between the amount of equity attributable to owners of parent in the above condensed consolidated financial statements and the carrying 

amount of interests in JSW Steel Limited and the fair value of interests in JSW Steel Limited are as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Equity attributable to owners of parent 356,023 414,401 497,781

Ownership interest (%) 15.0 15.0 15.0

Equity attributable to the Group 53,403 62,160 74,667

Consolidation adjustment 896 4,549 4,443

Carrying amount of interests in JSW Steel Limited 54,299 66,709 79,110

Fair value of interests in JSW Steel Limited 118,051 172,389 168,268

Dividends received from JSW Steel Limited for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2018 and 2019 were 1,435 million yen and 1,846 million yen, 

respectively.
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(2) Immaterial associates and joint ventures
The carrying amount of investments in immaterial associates and joint ventures is as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Associates 190,672 119,373 117,964

Joint ventures 87,456 103,140 117,988

Financial information on immaterial associates and joint ventures is as follows, which represents the amounts attributable to the Group based on the 

Group’s interest in those associates and joint ventures.

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018) Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Associates

Profit (33,622) 5,292

Other comprehensive income (1,134) (1,152)

Comprehensive income (34,757) 4,140

Joint ventures

Profit 12,219 15,185

Other comprehensive income 298 (79)

Comprehensive income 12,517 15,105

19. Income Taxes
(1) Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

The breakdown of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities by major cause of accrual is as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Deferred tax assets

Retirement benefit liability 31,021 33,210 34,996

Accrued bonuses 12,298 14,263 14,611

Accrued expenses 8,149 9,382 9,850

Provisions 6,043 6,099 7,552

Unused tax losses 10,593 3,161 6,561

Cash flow hedges 4,728 4,220 4,243

Impairment losses 969 3,342 2,828

Other 29,591 31,002 32,899

Total deferred tax assets 103,395 104,681 113,543

Deferred tax liabilities

Net change in fair value of equity instruments designated as 
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 55,657 51,745 45,065

Retained earnings of subsidiaries and associates 5,895 8,486 11,290

Other 24,447 25,145 24,129

Total deferred tax liabilities 85,999 85,376 80,484

Net deferred tax assets 17,395 19,304 33,059

The breakdown of changes in net deferred tax assets (liabilities) is as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017
 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018)

Fiscal 2018 
(April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Balance at the beginning of the year 17,395 19,304

Deferred tax expense 9,584 4,183

Deferred taxes on items of other comprehensive income

Effective portion of cash flow hedges (1,140) 164

Net change in fair value of equity instruments designated as measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income (5,376) 7,013

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (1,951) 1,957

Other 794 434

Balance at the end of the year 19,304 33,059

Deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses for which deferred tax assets are not recognized in the consolidated statement of financial 

position are as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Deductible temporary differences 228,511 199,694 217,001

Unused tax losses 395,769 309,474 229,253

Unrecognized deferred tax assets for the above deductible temporary differences were 59,544 million yen, 60,884 million yen and 65,871 million yen as 

of April 1, 2017, March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2019, respectively. Unrecognized deferred tax assets for the above unused tax losses were 23,840 

million yen, 14,806 million yen and 8,084 million yen as of April 1, 2017, March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2019, respectively.

The breakdown by expiration date of unused tax losses for which deferred tax assets are not recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position 

is as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Year 1 96 638 171

Year 2 to Year 5 303,968 225,038 148,915

Year 5 or later 84,516 78,360 78,053

No specified expiration date 7,187 5,437 2,112

Total 395,769 309,474 229,253

Taxable temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries and associates for which deferred tax liabilities were not recognized as of April 1, 

2017, March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2019 amounted to 118,528 million yen, 115,222 million yen and 94,548 million yen, respectively.

Deferred tax liabilities are not recognized for such temporary differences, where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 

difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets of 5,277 million yen, 8,180 million yen and 1,371 million yen were recognized as of April 1, 2017, March 31, 2018 and March 31, 

2019, respectively, for taxable entities that incurred net loss in the current or previous period, and whose recoverability of deferred tax assets depends on 

future taxable profit.

In assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, the Group considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable 

profit and tax planning strategies.
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(2) Income tax expense
The breakdown of income tax expense is as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018) Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Current tax expense 59,308 43,671

Deferred tax expense (9,584) (4,183)

Total 49,723 39,488

(3) Reconciliation of effective tax rate
The breakdown by major cause of a difference between the effective statutory tax rate and the burden ratio of corporation tax, etc. after application of tax 

effect accounting is as follows:

(%)

Fiscal 2017 
(April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018)

Fiscal 2018
 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Effective statutory tax rate 31.0 30.0

(Reconciliation)

Items permanently not tax-deductible, such as entertainment expenses 1.7 0.8

Items permanently not taxable, such as dividend income (1.9) (0.2)

Share of profit (loss) of entities accounted for using equity method 2.1 (6.1)

Tax credits (2.3) (2.5)

Other 2.0 (3.0)

Burden ratio of corporation tax, etc. after application of tax effect accounting 32.5 18.9

20. Trade and Other Payables
The breakdown of trade and other payables is as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Notes and accounts payable – trade 470,575 504,235 522,098

Accounts payable – other 54,151 56,146 62,840

Total 524,727 560,381 584,939

Trade and other payables are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.

21. Bonds Payable, Borrowings, and Lease Obligations
(1) The breakdown of bonds payable, borrowings, and lease obligations is as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Short-term loans payable (Note 1) 110,752 117,700 135,601

Current portion of long-term borrowings (Note 1) 97,972 172,410 103,371

Current portion of bonds (Note 2) 49,997 14,996 –

Commercial papers (Note 1) 8,000 6,000 83,000

Bonds payable (Note 2) 74,826 79,778 109,706

Long-term borrowings (Note 1) 1,054,982 954,972 1,040,824

Lease obligations 28,990 45,371 51,375

Total 1,425,521 1,391,229 1,523,879

Current liabilities 271,767 317,494 329,400

Non-current liabilities 1,153,753 1,073,734 1,194,478

Total 1,425,521 1,391,229 1,523,879

Bonds payable, borrowings, and lease obligations are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.

Bonds payable and borrowings are not subject to financial covenants that have significant effects on the financing activities of the Group.

(Note 1)  The weighted average interest rate and repayment date for the balance of short-term loans payable, current portion of long-term borrowings, 

commercial papers and long-term borrowings as of March 31, 2019 are as follows:

Average interest rate (%) Repayment date

Short-term loans payable 2.78 –

Current portion of long-term borrowings 0.46 –

Commercial papers (0.00) –

Long-term borrowings 1.06 April 27, 2020 to March 22, 2078

(Note 2) Terms and conditions of issuance of bonds are summarized as follows:

(million yen)

Company 
name Issue Date of 

issuance
Transition date 
(April 1, 2017)

As of March 
31, 2018

As of March 
31, 2019

Interest rate 
(%) Collateral Redemption 

date

The Company The 16th 
unsecured bond

May 27, 
2010 19,998 – – 0.858 None May 26, 

2017

The Company The 17th 
unsecured bond

June 8, 
2011 29,950 29,962 29,974 1.326 None June 8, 

2021

The Company The 19th 
unsecured bond

September 5, 
2011 14,987 14,996 – 0.686 None September 5, 

2018

The Company The 20th 
unsecured bond

April 17, 
2012 29,999 – – 0.453 None April 17,

 2017

The Company The 21st 
unsecured bond

March 13, 
2014 9,962 9,967 9,973 0.804 None March 13, 

2024

The Company The 22nd 
unsecured bond

September 19, 
2014 19,925 19,935 19,945 0.703 None September 19, 

2024

The Company The 23rd 
unsecured bond

May 23, 
2017 – 9,961 9,970 0.090 None May 23, 

2022

The Company The 24th 
unsecured bond

March 1, 
2018 – 9,954 9,963 0.110 None March 1, 

2023

The Company The 25th 
unsecured bond

May 21, 
2018 – – 19,922 0.260 None May 21, 

2025

The Company The 26th 
unsecured bond

November 22,
2018 – – 9,956 0.150 None November 22, 

2023

Total – – 124,823 94,775 109,706 – – –
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(2) Assets pledged as collateral and corresponding secured obligations
Assets pledged as collateral

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Cash and cash equivalents 196 656 763

Property, plant and equipment 16,412 15,019 13,519

Investments accounted for using equity method 1,155 995 1,376

Other financial assets (non-current) 569 108 294

Other non-current assets 187 155 171

Total 18,521 16,935 16,124

Note: Industrial foundation’s assets of property, plant and equipment as mortgage

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Property, plant and equipment 13,912 12,565 11,152

In addition, shares of consolidated subsidiaries have been pledged as collateral.

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Shares of consolidated subsidiaries (book value posted on 
the non-consolidated financial statements of the 
consolidated subsidiaries)

242 553 553

Corresponding secured obligations

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Trade and other payables 387 410 252

Bonds payable, borrowings, and lease obligations (current) 970 1,183 882

Bonds payable, borrowings, and lease obligations (non-
current) 7,827 11,390 10,568

Total 9,186 12,984 11,702

Note: Those corresponding to the industrial foundation’s assets in the above obligations

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Bonds payable, borrowings, and lease obligations (current) 839 839 559

Bonds payable, borrowings, and lease obligations (non-
current) 7,252 6,692 6,133

Total 8,091 7,532 6,692

22. Other Financial Liabilities
The breakdown of other financial liabilities is as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

Deposits received 81,698 83,834 93,763

Other 31,717 25,244 18,091

Subtotal 113,416 109,079 111,855

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss

Derivative liabilities 4,056 5,642 4,383

Total 117,473 114,721 116,238

Current liabilities 89,884 92,612 99,097

Non-current liabilities 27,588 22,109 17,140

Total 117,473 114,721 116,238

23. Provisions
The breakdown and movement of provisions are as follows:

Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 to March 31, 2019)

(million yen)

Provision for loss on 
specified business Other provisions Total

Balance at the beginning of the year 16,478 28,031 44,509

Increase during the year 215 15,405 15,620

Interest expense incurred over the discount period 198 3 201

Decrease due to intended use (3,443) (9,454) (12,897)

Decrease due to reversal – (2,533) (2,533)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations and others – (124) (124)

Balance at the end of the year 13,448 31,327 44,775

Current liabilities – 14,336 14,336

Non-current liabilities 13,448 16,990 30,438

Total 13,448 31,327 44,775

Provision for loss on specified business
A provision for loss on specified business is provided for possible losses on a certain specific business of industrial waste disposal at an estimated 

amount of losses to be incurred from the following fiscal year onwards.

These expenses are expected to be paid primarily after one year; however, the timing of the payment is subject to change due to future business plans 

and other factors.
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24. Post-employment Benefits
The Group has adopted mainly retirement lump-sum payment plans, defined benefit pension plans and defined contribution pension plans. Retirement 

lump-sum payment plans and defined benefit pension plans are exposed to general investment risk, interest rate risk, inflation risk and other risks. However, 

the Group determines that those risks are immaterial.

The defined benefit pension plans are operated by corporate pension funds legally separated from the Group. The corporate pension funds and pension 

fund trustees are required by laws and regulations to act in the best interests of the plan participants, and are responsible for managing the plan assets in 

accordance with the designated policies.

(1) Reconciliation of defined benefit obligations and plan assets
The reconciliation of the defined benefit obligations and plan assets to the retirement benefit liability and asset recognized in the consolidated statement of 

financial position is as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Funded defined benefit obligations 219,946 209,670 202,208

Plan assets (153,681) (147,465) (137,259)

Subtotal 66,264 62,205 64,948

Unfunded defined benefit obligations 46,500 49,676 52,670

Total 112,765 111,881 117,619

Amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of 
financial position

Retirement benefit liability 123,989 128,341 133,999

Retirement benefit asset (11,224) (16,459) (16,380)

Net defined benefit liability (asset) recognized in the 
consolidated statement of financial position 112,765 111,881 117,619

(2) Reconciliation of defined benefit obligations
The movement of defined benefit obligations is as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 
(April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018)

Fiscal 2018
 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Balance at the beginning of the year 266,447 259,347

Current service cost 14,323 14,533

Interest expense 1,862 1,688

Remeasurements

Actuarial losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions 21 57

Actuarial losses arising from changes in financial assumptions 1,759 1,864

Experience adjustments (343) 1,302

Past service cost (786) 15

Benefits paid (23,800) (23,485)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, etc. (136) (445)

Balance at the end of the year 259,347 254,878

The weighted-average duration of defined benefit obligations is as follows:

(years)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Weighted-average duration 10.7 10.9 11.0

(3) Reconciliation of plan assets
The movement of plan assets is as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 
(April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018)

Fiscal 2018 
(April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Balance at the beginning of the year 153,681 147,465

Interest income 971 862

Remeasurements

Return on plan assets (excluding interest income) 7,899 (3,002)

Contribution to the plan by employer 2,114 2,084

Benefits paid (17,268) (10,099)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations, etc. 67 (51)

Balance at the end of the year 147,465 137,259

The Group expects to contribute 2,137 million yen to its defined benefit plans in the fiscal year ending March 31, 2020.

(4) Major breakdown of plan assets
The breakdown of the total plan assets by major category is as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

With quoted 
market price 
in an active 

market

With no 
quoted 

market price 
in an active 

market

Total

With quoted 
market price 
in an active 

market

With no 
quoted 

market price 
in an active 

market

Total

With 
quoted 
market 

price in an 
active 
market

With no 
quoted 
market 

price in an 
active 
market

Total

Equity instruments

Domestic stocks 59,007 285 59,292 61,669 470 62,140 56,979 474 57,453

Foreign stocks 6,879 350 7,229 6,461 680 7,142 6,524 667 7,191

Debt instruments

Domestic bonds 15,982 3,658 19,640 16,751 3,625 20,377 16,222 3,423 19,645

Foreign bonds 3,084 2,471 5,555 3,100 2,508 5,609 3,038 2,229 5,267

Cash and deposits 7,854 – 7,854 3,587 – 3,587 3,122 – 3,122

Life insurance 
general accounts – 52,967 52,967 – 47,625 47,625 – 42,942 42,942

Other – 1,142 1,142 – 983 983 – 1,636 1,636

Total 92,807 60,874 153,681 91,571 55,893 147,465 85,886 51,373 137,259

The Group’s management policy for the plan assets is to secure stable returns in the medium and long term for ensuring future payments of defined 

benefit obligations pursuant to internal regulations. Specifically, the target rate of returns and the asset mix ratio by investment asset class are determined 

within the acceptable risk range every fiscal year, and the plan assets are managed with the asset mix ratio maintained.
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(5) Actuarial assumptions
Major actuarial assumptions are as follows:

(%)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Discount rate Mainly 0.7 Mainly 0.6 Mainly 0.5

Anticipated rate of salary increase Mainly 0.9 to 3.0 Mainly 0.9 to 3.0 Mainly 0.9 to 3.0

Note:  The sensitivities of defined benefit obligations due to changes in the discount rate as of each fiscal year are as follows. Each of these sensitivities 

assumes that other variables are held constant; however, they do not always change independently. Negative figures indicate a decrease in defined 

benefit obligations, while positive figures indicate an increase.

The Group does not expect any significant changes in the anticipated rate of salary increase.

(million yen)

Change in assumptions As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Discount rate
Increase by 0.5% (12,390) (12,681)

Decrease by 0.5% 13,408 13,673

(6) Defined contribution pension plans
Contributions to the defined contribution pension plans are as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017
 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018)

Fiscal 2018
 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Contributions to the defined contribution pension plans 3,520 3,774

25. Equity and Other Equity Items
(1) Share capital

(i) Authorized shares
The number of authorized shares as of April 1, 2017, March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2019 was 2,298,000 thousand common shares.

(ii) Fully paid and issued shares
The movement of the number of issued shares is as follows:

Number of issued common shares (thousand shares)

As of April 1, 2017 (transition date) 614,438

Increase (decrease) –

As of March 31, 2018 614,438

Increase (decrease) –

As of March 31, 2019 614,438

Note: All the shares issued by the Company are non-par value common shares that have no restrictions on the rights.

(2) Treasury shares
The movement of the number of treasury shares is as follows:

Number of shares (thousand shares)

As of April 1, 2017 (transition date) 37,829

As of March 31, 2018 37,919

As of March 31, 2019 38,590

Note: Treasury shares as of March 31, 2019 include the Company shares held in trust accounts for employee stock ownership plans.

(3) Capital surplus and retained earnings
Under the Companies Act of Japan, at least one-half of the proceeds from issuance of shares shall be credited to share capital, while the remainder 

of the proceeds shall be credited to capital reserves included in capital surplus. In addition, the Companies Act of Japan provides that one-tenth of 

the dividends of retained earnings shall be appropriated as capital reserves or as retained earnings reserves until their aggregate amount equals 

one-quarter of share capital.

26. Dividends
(1) Amounts of dividends paid

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 to March 31, 2018)

Date of resolution Type of share Total amount of 
dividends (million yen)

Dividend per share 
(yen) Record date Effective date

Ordinary General 
Meeting of Shareholders 
held on June 23, 2017

Common stock 17,303 30 March 31, 2017 June 26, 2017

Board of Directors 
Meeting held on 
November 1, 2017

Common stock 17,302 30 September 30, 2017 November 30, 2017

Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 to March 31, 2019)

Date of resolution Type of share Total amount of 
dividends (million yen)

Dividend per share 
(yen) Record date Effective date

Ordinary General 
Meeting of Shareholders 
held on June 21, 2018

Common stock 28,834 50 March 31, 2018 June 22, 2018

Board of Directors 
Meeting held on October 
30, 2018

Common stock 25,950 45 September 30, 2018 November 30, 2018

Note:  The total amount of dividends of 25,950 million yen includes dividends of the Company shares held in trust accounts for employee stock ownership 

plans of 27 million yen.

(2)  Of the dividends for which the record date belongs to the fiscal year, those dividends for which the effective date will be after the 
end of the fiscal year

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 to March 31, 2018)

Date of resolution Type of share
Total amount of 

dividends
 (million yen)

Source of funds for 
dividends

Dividend per share 
(yen) Record date Effective date

Ordinary General 
Meeting of 
Shareholders held 
on June 21, 2018

Common stock 28,834 Retained earnings 50 March 31, 2018 June 22, 2018

Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 to March 31, 2019)

Date of resolution Type of share
Total amount of 

dividends
 (million yen)

Source of funds for 
dividends

Dividend per share 
(yen) Record date Effective date

Ordinary General 
Meeting of 
Shareholders held 
on June 21, 2019

Common stock 28,831 Retained earnings 50 March 31, 2019 June 24, 2019

Note:  The total amount of dividends of 28,831 million yen includes dividends of the Company shares held in trust accounts for employee stock ownership 

plans of 30 million yen.
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27. Revenue
(1) Disaggregation of revenue

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 to March 31, 2018)

(million yen)

Steel Business Engineering 
Business Trading Business

Elimination of 
intersegment 

revenue
Total

Region

Japan 1,753,804 374,432 481,282 (201,019) 2,408,500

Other 981,973 27,086 518,086 (308,397) 1,218,748

Total 2,735,777 401,519 999,368 (509,417) 3,627,248

Transfer of goods or services

At a point in time 2,511,020 2,623 999,286 (488,672) 3,024,258

Over time 224,757 398,895 81 (20,745) 602,990

Total 2,735,777 401,519 999,368 (509,417) 3,627,248

Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 to March 31, 2019)
(million yen)

Steel Business Engineering 
Business Trading Business

Elimination of 
intersegment 

revenue
Total

Region

Japan 1,861,015 450,628 550,678 (251,297) 2,611,024

Other 969,633 35,187 575,182 (317,365) 1,262,637

Total 2,830,649 485,815 1,125,861 (568,663) 3,873,662

Transfer of goods or services

At a point in time 2,595,794 3,904 1,125,801 (542,751) 3,182,749

Over time 234,854 481,910 59 (25,912) 690,912

Total 2,830,649 485,815 1,125,861 (568,663) 3,873,662

(2) Contract balances
(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Receivables from contracts with customers 655,945 728,275 718,931

Contract assets 132,500 126,935 124,039

Contract liabilities 33,465 53,588 59,060

The amount recognized as receivables that was included in the opening balance of contract assets was 85,483 million yen and 100,460 million yen as of 

March 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively.

The amount recognized as revenue that was included in the opening balance of contract liabilities was 17,554 million yen and 40,847 million yen as of 

March 31, 2018 and 2019, respectively.

(3) Remaining performance obligations
(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Transaction price allocated to performance obligations 
that are unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied as of the end 
of the fiscal year

996,075 1,057,100 1,040,707

Expected timing of revenue recognition

Within one year 316,145 394,464 404,960

Over one year 679,930 662,635 635,747

28. Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
The breakdown of selling, general and administrative expenses is as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018) Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Employee benefit expenses 133,543 137,593

Product shipping-related expenses 84,423 97,190

Provision of allowance for doubtful accounts 102 219

Other 118,878 122,319

Total 336,949 357,323

29. Employee Benefit Expenses
Employee benefit expenses are as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018) Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Employee benefit expenses 468,690 486,211

Employee benefit expenses include salaries, bonuses, legal welfare expenses and retirement benefit expenses, and are recorded in “Cost of sales” and 

“Selling, general and administrative expenses.”

30. Share-based Payment
The Company has instituted a share-based payment plan through which a portion of the compensation of directors (excluding outside directors) and executive 

officers (excluding non-residents under income tax law) (hereinafter referred to collectively as the “Directors/Officers”) of the Company and its operating 

companies is provided in the form of employee stock ownership plans. The Group’s objective is to establish a clear link between compensation and the 

Group’s operating performance and equity value and encourage the sharing of value with shareholders, thereby creating a greater incentive to contribute 

toward enhancing shareholder value over the medium and long term.

The plan is a compensation plan whereby shares in the Company are acquired through a trust funded by cash contributed by the Company, and 

the Company’s shares and an amount of cash equivalent to the market price of the Company’s shares (hereinafter referred to as the “Company’s 

Shares”) are provided through the trust to the Directors/Officers, pursuant to the Stock Grant Regulations for Officers established by the Company 

and its operating companies.

The Company’s Shares are granted to the Directors/Officers, in principle, upon their retirement.

Compensation under the plan is granted to the Directors/Officers as consideration for their execution period of duties, provided the Directors/Officers have 

been in office for at least a month during the period specified as follows (the “Execution Period”):

•  Directors of the Company: From the date of the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company for the respective year to the date of the 

Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders of the Company for the following year

• Others: From April 1 of the respective year to March 31 of the following year

The Company and its operating companies calculate points equivalent to the performance-linked portion and the service-length portion for each Execution 

Period and grant them to the Directors/Officers.

The points granted for each Execution Period are accumulated until retirement, and the number of the Company’s Shares is calculated by converting the 

accumulated points as “one point = one share.”

Part of the plan that provides the Company’s shares is accounted for an equity-settled share-based payment transaction while part of the plan that provides 

cash is accounted for a cash-settled share-based payment transaction.

Expenses recognized for the plan as “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss are as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018) Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Equity-settled – 170

Cash-settled – 64

Total – 234
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The carrying amount of liabilities for the plan is as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Other non-current liabilities – – 64

The number of points granted and the weighted-average fair value of points at the grant date for the equity-settled portion of the plan are as follows:

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018) Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Number of points granted (points) – 79,832

Weighted-average fair value of points at the grant date (yen) – 2,136

Note: The fair value of points granted approximates the share price at the grant date, and thus represents the share price at the grant date.

31. Other Income
The breakdown of other income is as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 
(April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018)

Fiscal 2018 
(April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Dividend income

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 7,881 8,544

Rental income 7,232 6,982

Gain on sale of investments in subsidiaries 192 –

Other 15,312 15,350

Total 30,619 30,877

The breakdown of dividend income from equity financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income is as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018) Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Financial assets derecognized during the year 1,005 56

Financial assets held as of the reporting date 6,875 8,487

32. Other Expenses
The breakdown of other expenses is as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018) Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Loss on retirement of fixed assets 18,354 14,462

Loss on sale of investments in subsidiaries – 53

Foreign exchange loss 5,383 –

Other 14,241 14,839

Total 37,979 29,355

33. Finance Income and Finance Costs
(1) Finance income

The breakdown of finance income is as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018) Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Interest income

Financial assets measured at amortized cost 1,546 2,083

Total 1,546 2,083

(2) Finance costs
The breakdown of finance costs is as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018) Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Interest expenses

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 15,220 13,447

Other 225 201

Other 580 939

Total 16,026 14,588
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34. Other Comprehensive Income
The amount arising during the year, reclassification adjustments to profit or loss and tax effects for each component of other comprehensive income are 

as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 
(April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018)

Fiscal 2018 
(April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans

Amount arising during the year 6,461 (6,228)

Before tax effects 6,461 (6,228)

Tax effects (1,951) 1,957

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans 4,510 (4,270)

Net change in fair value of equity instruments designated as measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income

Amount arising during the year 19,127 (30,105)

Before tax effects 19,127 (30,105)

Tax effects (5,376) 7,013

Net change in fair value of equity instruments designated as measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income 13,751 (23,091)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations

Amount arising during the year (2,098) (4,445)

Reclassification adjustments – –

Before tax effects (2,098) (4,445)

Tax effects – –

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (2,098) (4,445)

Effective portion of cash flow hedges

Amount arising during the year 34 4,638

Reclassification adjustments 3,755 (5,186)

Before tax effects 3,790 (547)

Tax effects (1,140) 164

Effective portion of cash flow hedges 2,649 (383)

Share of other comprehensive income of investments accounted for using equity 
method

Amount arising during the year 2,589 (11,948)

Reclassification adjustments (451) 692

Share of other comprehensive income of investments accounted for using 
equity method 2,137 (11,255)

Total other comprehensive income 20,950 (43,446)

35. Earnings per Share
(1) Basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018) Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Basic earnings per share (yen) 169.34 283.81

Diluted earnings per share (yen) 169.34 283.76

(2) Basis for calculation of basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share

Fiscal 2017 
(April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018)

Fiscal 2018 
(April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Profit used in calculation of basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share

Profit attributable to owners of the parent company (million yen) 97,635 163,509

Amount not attributable to common shareholders of the parent company (million yen) – –

Profit used in calculation of basic earnings per share (million yen) 97,635 163,509

Profit adjustments (million yen) – –

Profit used in calculation of diluted earnings per share (million yen) 97,635 163,509

Weighted average number of common shares used in calculation of basic earnings per 
share and diluted earnings per share

Weighted average number of common shares used in calculation of basic earnings per 
share (thousand shares) 576,572 576,117

Impact of dilutive potential common shares (thousand shares)

Share-based payments – 114

Weighted average number of common shares used in calculation of diluted earnings 
per share (thousand shares) 576,572 576,231

Note:  The Company shares held in trust accounts for employee stock ownership plans are included in treasury shares, which are excluded from the calculation 

of the weighted average number of shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share. The weighted average number of treasury shares 

excluded from the calculation of basic earnings per share for the current consolidated fiscal year is 378,000.
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36. Supplemental Information to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
The movement of liabilities arising from financing activities is as follows:

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 to March 31, 2018)

(million yen)

Opening balance
Changes from 
financing cash 

flows

Non-cash changes

Closing balanceIncrease due to 
new leases Other (Note)

Short-term borrowings 110,752 4,556 – 2,391 117,700

Current portion of long-term borrowings 97,972 (98,061) – 172,499 172,410

Current portion of bonds 49,997 (50,000) – 14,998 14,996

Commercial papers 8,000 (1,999) – – 6,000

Bonds payable 74,826 20,000 – (15,047) 79,778

Long-term borrowings 1,054,982 78,474 – (178,485) 954,972

Lease obligations 28,990 (6,394) 22,426 349 45,371

Total 1,425,521 (53,425) 22,426 (3,293) 1,391,229

Note:  Item “Other” in the non-cash changes mainly includes the transfer of long-term borrowings due within one year to current portion of long-term 

borrowings and the transfer of bonds payable due within one year to current portion of bonds.

Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 to March 31, 2019)
(million yen)

Liabilities arising from financing activities Opening balance
Changes from 
financing cash 

flows

Non-cash changes

Closing balanceIncrease due to 
new leases Other (Note)

Short-term borrowings 117,700 18,752 – (852) 135,601

Current portion of long-term borrowings 172,410 (171,184) – 102,145 103,371

Current portion of bonds 14,996 (15,000) – 3 –

Commercial papers 6,000 77,000 – – 83,000

Bonds payable 79,778 30,000 – (72) 109,706

Long-term borrowings 954,972 184,196 – (98,344) 1,040,824

Lease obligations 45,371 (8,317) 14,106 215 51,375

Total 1,391,229 115,447 14,106 3,096 1,523,879

Note:  Item “Other” in the non-cash changes mainly includes the transfer of long-term borrowings due within one year to current portion of long-term 

borrowings and the transfer of bonds payable due within one year to current portion of bonds.

37. Financial Instruments
(1) Capital management

The Group’s capital management principle is to enhance capital efficiency and ensure sound financial conditions in order to achieve sustainable growth 

and the medium- to long-term improvement of corporate value.

The Group’s major indicators for capital management are as follows:

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

ROE *1 – 5.4% 8.6%

D/E Ratio *2 55.9% 63.7% 68.2%

Debt / EBITDA multiple*4 – 3.5x 3.6x

Notes: 1. *1 ROE = Profit attributable to owners of parent / Equity attributable to owners of parent

2. *2  D/E Ratio = Bonds payable, borrowings, and lease obligations / Equity attributable to owners of parent

For debt with an equity component*3, a portion of its issue price is deemed to be equity attributable to owners of parent, as assessed by rating 

agencies.

3. *3 Debt with an equity component (subordinated loans)

(million yen)

Borrowing date Amount borrowed Assessment of equity content Amount deemed to be equity

March 18, 2013 300,000 75% 225,000

June 30, 2016 200,000 25% 50,000

March 19, 2018 300,000 25% 75,000

The subordinated loan financed on March 18, 2013 was early repaid on March 19, 2018, and refinanced through a new subordinated loan 

originated on the same date.

4. *4 Debt / EBITDA multiple = Bonds payable, borrowings, and lease obligations / EBITDA

EBITDA: Business income + Depreciation and Amortization

These indicators are monitored as necessary and appropriate.

The Group is not subject to material capital regulation.

(2) Basic policy on financial risk management
The Group is exposed to financial risks (credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, and market price fluctuation risk) in the course of 

business activities. In order to mitigate these risks, the Group conducts risk management under certain policies. The Group uses derivative transactions to 

avoid or mitigate the risks described later and does not use them for speculative purposes.

(3) Credit risk
(i) Credit risk management
Trade receivables held by the Group are exposed to the credit risks of customers. To manage such risks, each company of the Group conducts regular 

reassessments of the financial standing of business partners.

The Group does not have excessive concentration of credit risk on any particular counterparty.

(ii) Maximum exposure to credit risk
Other than undrawn loan commitments and guaranteed obligations, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of financial assets 

less impairment losses in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The maximum exposure to the credit risk of loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts is as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Loan commitments 901 2,355 1,170

Financial guarantee contracts 55,675 45,530 50,344
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(iii) Movement of allowance for doubtful accounts
(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018)

Allowance for doubtful accounts 
measured at an amount equal to 
12-month expected credit losses

Lifetime expected credit losses

Allowance for doubtful accounts 
for trade receivables, contract 
assets, and lease receivables

Allowance for doubtful accounts 
for credit-impaired financial assets

Balance at the beginning of the year 70 946 2,196

Increase during the year 153 397 1,090

Decrease during the year (intended use) (0) (0) (475)

Decrease during the year (reversal) (9) (414) (1,177)

Other 0 (43) 4

Balance at the end of the year 214 886 1,637

(million yen)

Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Allowance for doubtful 
accounts measured at an 
amount equal to 12-month 

expected credit losses

Lifetime expected credit losses
Allowance for doubtful 

accounts for trade 
receivables, contract assets, 

and lease receivables

Allowance for doubtful 
accounts for credit-impaired 

financial assets

Balance at the beginning of the year 214 886 1,637

Increase during the year 57 390 108

Decrease during the year (intended use) (130) (2) (148)

Decrease during the year (reversal) (45) (438) (538)

Other (14) 58 29

Balance at the end of the year 81 894 1,089

Note:  An increase during the year and decrease during the year (reversal) in allowance for doubtful accounts for trade receivables, contract assets, and lease 

receivables (lifetime expected credit losses) resulted from an increase and decrease in trade and other receivables mainly due to sale and collection.

(iv)  Carrying amounts (before deducting allowance for doubtful accounts) of financial assets and receivables for which allowance 
for doubtful accounts is provided

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Financial assets with allowance for doubtful accounts 
measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit 
losses

33,438 36,521 38,096

Trade receivables, contract assets, and lease receivables 788,883 855,556 847,344

Credit-impaired financial assets 4,792 1,725 1,111

(v) Analysis of credit risk
Credit risk ratings are almost similar among financial assets with allowance for doubtful accounts measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected 

credit losses.

Past due information on trade receivables, contract assets, and lease receivables is as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Not past due 773,058 842,436 830,481

Past due within 30 days 10,037 8,179 10,442

Past due between 30 days and 90 days 3,583 2,938 4,194

Past due over 90 days 2,204 2,002 2,225

Total 788,883 855,556 847,344

(4) Liquidity risk
(i) Liquidity risk management
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may become unable to meet its payment obligations on their due date, including for trade receivables and 

borrowings, owing to deterioration in the financing environment and other factors.

The Group raises the necessary funds mainly through bank loans and the issuance of commercial papers and bonds, taking into consideration the 

stability and cost of funds, while the due dates of those obligations are managed so as to avoid concentration of payments in view of the liquidity risk. In 

addition, the Group manages the funds of the domestic Group companies intensively and efficiently in an attempt to mitigate the liquidity risk.

The Group is also maintaining sufficient liquidity by setting commitment lines with financial institutions.

(ii) Financial liabilities (including derivative financial instruments) by maturity date
Transition date (April 1, 2017)

(million yen)

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

Within one 
year

Between 
one year 
and two 

years

Between 
two years 
and three 

years

Between 
three years 

and four 
years

Between 
four years 
and five 

years

Over five 
years

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 524,727 524,727 524,727 – – – – –

Bonds payable and borrowings 1,396,531 1,467,063 279,153 198,755 64,353 87,686 120,909 716,205

Installment payables 21,000 21,120 6,549 6,534 4,018 1,509 1,506 1,002

Subtotal 1,942,258 2,012,911 810,430 205,289 68,372 89,195 122,416 717,207

Derivative financial liabilities 4,056 2,513 1,140 100 273 491 138 369

Total 1,946,315 2,015,424 811,570 205,390 68,645 89,687 122,554 717,576

As of March 31, 2018

(million yen)

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

Within one 
year

Between 
one year 
and two 

years

Between 
two years 
and three 

years

Between 
three years 

and four 
years

Between 
four years 
and five 

years

Over five 
years

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 560,381 560,381 560,381 – – – – –

Bonds payable and borrowings 1,345,858 1,395,453 323,793 111,351 86,821 120,080 250,232 503,174

Installment payables 14,500 14,571 6,534 4,018 1,509 1,506 1,002 –

Subtotal 1,920,740 1,970,406 890,709 115,369 88,331 121,587 251,234 503,174

Derivative financial liabilities 5,642 1,575 442 155 1,010 (3) (3) (26)

Total 1,926,382 1,971,981 891,151 115,525 89,341 121,584 251,231 503,147

As of March 31, 2019
(million yen)

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

Within one 
year

Between 
one year 
and two 

years

Between 
two years 
and three 

years

Between 
three years 

and four 
years

Between 
four years 
and five 

years

Over five 
years

Non-derivative financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 584,939 584,939 584,939 – – – – –

Bonds payable and borrowings 1,472,503 1,540,838 336,214 137,135 141,858 277,747 90,319 557,562

Installment payables 8,000 8,036 4,018 1,509 1,506 1,002 – –

Subtotal 2,065,443 2,133,814 925,172 138,644 143,364 278,750 90,319 557,562

Derivative financial liabilities 4,383 (1,492) 150 39 (338) (343) (535) (465)

Total 2,069,826 2,132,322 925,323 138,684 143,026 278,406 89,783 557,097
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(5) Foreign exchange risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk management
Financial instruments denominated in foreign currencies held by the Group are exposed to foreign exchange rate fluctuation risk. Hedge transactions, 

including forward exchange contracts, are entered into as necessary for the net balance of foreign currencies received from exports of products, etc. and 

foreign currencies paid for imports of raw materials, etc. under transactions denominated in the relevant foreign currencies.

(ii) Foreign exchange sensitivity analysis
The financial impact on profit before tax in the case of a 1% appreciation of Japanese yen against foreign currencies for financial instruments held by the 

Group at the end of each fiscal year is as follows. The analysis is based on the assumption that all other variables are held constant.

The sensitivity does not include the effects of translating financial instruments and the assets and liabilities of foreign operations denominated in the 

functional currency into the presentation currency.

(million yen)

Currency Fiscal 2017 
(April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018)

Fiscal 2018
 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Impact on profit before tax U.S. dollar (426) (465)

(6) Interest rate risk
(i) Interest rate risk management
Borrowings and bonds payable with floating interest rates held by the Group are exposed to interest rate fluctuation risk. Hedge transactions, including 

interest rate swaps, are entered into for certain borrowings and bonds payable to cope with interest rate fluctuations and to reduce interest rate payments.

(ii) Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The financial impact on profit before tax in the case of a 1% increase in interest rate for financial liabilities with floating interest rates held by the Group at 

the end of each fiscal year is as follows. The analysis is based on the assumption that all other variables are held constant.

The sensitivity does not include borrowings with floating interest rates which are converted to fixed rates by derivative transactions, including interest 

rate swap agreements.

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018) Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Impact on profit before tax (7,475) (7,857)

(7) Share price fluctuation risk
(i) Share price fluctuation risk management
Equity instruments (stock) held by the Group are exposed to market price fluctuation risk. Most of the equity instruments are equities of the companies 

with which business relationships are maintained, and the fair values of such equities are regularly monitored.

(ii) Share price fluctuation sensitivity analysis
The financial impact on other comprehensive income (before tax) in the case of a 1% decrease in quoted price for each financial instrument (stock) with an 

active market held by the Group at the end of each fiscal year is as follows.

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018) Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Impact on other comprehensive income (before tax) (2,881) (2,546)

(8) Carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments
(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Long-term borrowings 1,054,982 1,058,896 954,972 960,749 1,040,824 1,050,235

Current portion of bonds 49,997 50,027 14,996 15,039 – –

Bonds payable 74,826 75,739 79,778 80,766 109,706 110,895

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortized cost excluding long-term borrowings, current portion of bonds and bonds 

payable are not included as they are close to their carrying amount.

Financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis are also not included as the fair value and the carrying amount are equal.

The fair value of long-term borrowings is determined by discounting the total of principal and interest to present value with the estimated interest rate on 

a similar new loan.

The fair value of bonds payable is based on market prices.

Long-term borrowings and bonds payable are categorized as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy.

(9) Fair value hierarchy of financial instruments
The fair value hierarchy of financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis after initial recognition is categorized into the following three 

levels depending on the observability and materiality of inputs used in the measurement.

Level 1: Fair value measured using market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: Fair value measured using observable inputs other than those categorized within Level 1, either directly or indirectly

Level 3: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.

When two or more inputs are used for the measurement of fair value, the level of fair value measurement is determined based on the lowest level input 

that is significant to the entire measurement.

Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy are determined at the end of each fiscal year.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2018 and 2019.

Transition date (April 1, 2017)

(million yen)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or 
loss

Derivative assets – 25,683 – 25,683

Other – 4,027 – 4,027

Equity instruments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Equity securities 317,926 – 55,739 373,666

Investments – – 5,963 5,963

Total 317,926 29,711 61,703 409,341

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or 
loss

Derivative liabilities – 4,056 – 4,056

Total – 4,056 – 4,056
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As of March 31, 2018

(million yen)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or 
loss

Derivative assets – 20,086 – 20,086

Other – 4,030 – 4,030

Equity instruments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Equity securities 288,188 – 61,196 349,385

Investments – – 6,238 6,238

Total 288,188 24,116 67,435 379,740

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or 
loss

Derivative liabilities – 5,642 – 5,642

Total – 5,642 – 5,642

As of March 31, 2019
(million yen)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or 
loss

Derivative assets – 21,325 – 21,325

Other – 3,982 – 3,982

Equity instruments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Equity securities 254,609 – 57,701 312,311

Investments – – 6,499 6,499

Total 254,609 25,308 64,201 344,119

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or 
loss

Derivative liabilities – 4,383 – 4,383

Total – 4,383 – 4,383

• Equity securities and investments
Listed equity securities are categorized within Level 1 as their fair value is determined based on the market price.

Unlisted equity securities and investments in capital are categorized within Level 3 as their fair value is determined using the comparable peer 

company analysis or other appropriate valuation techniques, where one or more significant inputs are not based on observable market data. The major 

significant unobservable input is a discount for illiquidity. The fair value decreases as a discount for illiquidity due to unlisted nature increases. A 30% 

illiquidity discount has been applied.

• Derivative assets and derivative liabilities
Derivative transactions, such as forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps, are categorized within Level 2 as their fair value is determined 

based on the quoted prices from counterparty financial institutions.

The fair value of financial instruments categorized within Level 3 is determined by each Group company which directly holds the relevant equity securities, 

in accordance with the valuation policy and procedures for fair value measurements established by the Group. The results of fair value measurements are 

approved by an appropriate responsible person.

The movement of financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis that are categorized within Level 3 for the fiscal years ended March 31, 

2018 and 2019 is as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018) Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Balance at the beginning of the year 61,703 67,435

Other comprehensive income (Note) 4,358 (2,637)

Acquisition 1,891 578

Sale (321) (235)

Other (196) (938)

Balance at the end of the year 67,435 64,201

Note:  The amount is included in “Net change in fair value of equity instruments designated as measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” 

in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

(10) Derivative transactions and hedging activities
Derivative transactions used by the Group carry risks of market price fluctuations in the future, including that of currencies, interest rates, etc. The Group 

uses derivatives that are only based on actual demand, such as export and import transactions, borrowings and bonds payable. Accordingly, these risks 

are limited within the scope of loss of opportunity gains. Furthermore, as the Group only conducts derivative transactions primarily with financial institutions 

with high credit ratings, the risk of failure to perform contracts due to bankruptcy of the counterparty, etc., is considered to be close to non-existent. The 

Company has established the internal rule on derivative transactions, and conducts transactions related to derivatives pursuant to the rule. On each actual 

transaction, the Company conducts a transaction upon authority by the Corporate Officer for Finance pursuant to the rule stated above. Balances, market 

prices and losses/gains on valuation of derivatives are to be reported to the management council regularly. The consolidated subsidiaries also conduct 

derivative transactions pursuant to the respective internal rules.

If the risk management objective for a hedging relationship is altered, the application of hedge accounting is discontinued.

(i) Fair value hedges
The Group uses interest rate swaps primarily to hedge the fluctuation risk of the fair value of bonds payable and borrowings, and designates those interest 

rate swaps as fair value hedges.

The amount recognized in profit or loss for the hedge ineffectiveness portion and the portion excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness was 

immaterial for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2018 and 2019.

(ii) Cash flow hedges
The Group uses forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps primarily to hedge the fluctuation risk of the cash flows associated with foreign 

exchange fluctuations in foreign currency denominated transactions and interest rate fluctuations in borrowings, and designates such derivative 

transactions as cash flow hedges.

The amount recognized in profit or loss for the hedge ineffectiveness portion and the portion excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness was 

immaterial for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2018 and 2019.
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(iii) Fair value of hedging instruments to which hedge accounting is applied
(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Fair value hedges

Interest rate swap transactions 2,651 – 2,005 – 1,703 –

Option contracts 9,522 – 6,342 – 7,737 –

Subtotal 12,174 – 8,348 – 9,441 –

Cash flow hedges

Forward exchange transactions 1,933 690 1,591 672 371 428

Interest rate swap transactions – 1,605 – 1,394 – 2,035

Cross-currency interest rate swap transactions 11,348 1,675 9,187 3,267 11,009 1,850

Commodity futures transactions – – 457 – – –

Commodity collar transactions – – – – – 3

Subtotal 13,282 3,972 11,236 5,334 11,381 4,317

Total 25,457 3,972 19,584 5,334 20,822 4,317

The fair value of the hedging instrument as an asset is recognized in “Other financial assets (current assets)” and “Other financial assets (non-current 

assets)” in the consolidated statement of financial position. The fair value of the hedging instrument as a liability is recognized in “Other financial liabilities 

(current liabilities)” and “Other financial liabilities (non-current liabilities)” in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(iv) Notional amount and average price of hedging instruments to which hedge accounting is applied
The notional amount of hedging instruments to which hedge accounting is applied

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Within one year Over one year Within one year Over one year Within one year Over one year

Fair value hedges

Interest rate swap transactions – 58,000 8,000 50,000 – 70,000

Option contracts – 27,265 – 27,265 – 27,265

Cash flow hedges

Forward exchange transactions 101,897 15,882 105,157 8,098 78,398 4,164

Interest rate swap transactions 105,647 86,175 36,546 138,678 1,000 136,728

Cross-currency interest rate swap transactions – 76,758 8,481 74,637 8,376 99,521

Commodity futures transactions – – 3,421 – – –

Commodity collar transactions – – – – 946 –

The average forward exchange rate of major currencies under foreign exchange transactions and the average paid interest rate under interest rate swap 

transactions and cross-currency interest rate swap transactions are as follows:

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Cash flow hedges

Foreign exchange transactions

U.S. dollar 111.12 yen 106.74 yen 110.34 yen

Euro 114.64 yen 120.47 yen 126.64 yen

Interest rate swap transactions

Receive floating / pay fixed 0.40% 0.32% 0.29%

Cross-currency interest rate swap transactions

U.S. dollar 100.48 yen 99.40 yen 101.31 yen

Receive floating / pay fixed 0.31% 0.31% 0.29%

(v) Carrying amount of hedged items in fair value hedges and accumulated amount of fair value hedge adjustments
Transition date (April 1, 2017)

(million yen)

Line item of the consolidated 
statement of financial 

position

Carrying amount Including accumulated amount of 
fair value hedge adjustments

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Interest rate swap transactions Bonds payable, borrowings, and 
lease obligations – 60,651 – 2,651

Option contracts Other financial assets 17,226 – (10,038) –

As of March 31, 2018

(million yen)

Line item of the consolidated 
statement of financial position

Carrying amount Including accumulated amount of 
fair value hedge adjustments

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Interest rate swap transactions Bonds payable, borrowings, and 
lease obligations – 60,005 – 2,005

Option contracts Other financial assets 20,724 (6,541) –

As of March 31, 2019
(million yen)

Line item of the consolidated 
statement of financial position

Carrying amount Including accumulated amount of 
fair value hedge adjustments

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Interest rate swap transactions Bonds payable, borrowings, and 
lease obligations – 71,703 – 1,703

Option contracts Other financial assets 18,178 (9,087) –

(vi) Other components of equity and gains or losses on hedging instruments of cash flow hedges
Transition date (April 1, 2017)

(million yen)

Amount of other components of equity (net of tax)

Foreign exchange transactions 766

Interest rate swap transactions (1,123)

Cross-currency interest rate swap transactions (1,371)

Total (1,728)
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Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 to March 31, 2018)

(million yen)

Amount of other 
components of 

equity (net of tax)

Hedging gains or 
losses recognized 

in other 
comprehensive 

income

Reclassification 
amount to cost of 

non-financial 
assets

Reclassification 
adjustments from 

other 
comprehensive 
income to profit

Major line item of 
the consolidated 

statement of profit 
or loss for 

reclassification 
adjustments

Foreign exchange transactions 924 1,840 (1,197) (484) Other expenses

Interest rate swap transactions (975) (364) – 512 Finance costs

Cross-currency interest rate swap 
transactions (577) (1,807) – 2,601 Finance costs

Commodity futures transactions 94 351 (257) –

Total (533) 20 (1,454) 2,628

Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 to March 31, 2019)
(million yen)

Amount of other 
components of 

equity (net of tax)

Hedging gains or 
losses recognized 

in other 
comprehensive 

income

Reclassification 
amount to cost of 

non-financial 
assets

Reclassification 
adjustments from 

other 
comprehensive 
income to profit

Major line item of 
the consolidated 

statement of profit 
or loss for 

reclassification 
adjustments

Foreign exchange transactions 58 (305) (743) 182 Other income

Interest rate swap transactions (1,424) (838) – 389 Finance costs

Cross-currency interest rate swap 
transactions (386) 4,394 – (4,203) Finance costs

Commodity futures transactions – – (94) –

Commodity collar transactions (2) (2) – –

Total (1,755) 3,247 (838) (3,630)

(11) Transfer of financial assets
As of March 31, 2018 and March 31, 2019, trade receivables transferred without satisfying conditions for derecognition of financial assets of 5,042 million 

yen and 6,977 million yen were recognized in “Trade and other receivables,” respectively, and the amounts received due to the transfer of 5,042 million 

yen and 6,977 million yen were recognized in “Bonds payable, borrowings, and lease obligations,” respectively.

With regard to these trade and other receivables, the Group will assume the payment obligations in case the drawer of the notes or the debtor fails to make 

payment. For this reason, it has been determined that the Group holds almost all of the risks and rewards related to ownership of the transferred assets.

38. Related Parties
Compensation for key management personnel is as follows:

(million yen)

Fiscal 2017 (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018) Fiscal 2018 (April 1, 2018 – March 31, 2019)

Compensation and bonuses 1,763 1,744

Share-based payment – 145

Post-employment benefits 88 3

Total 1,852 1,892

39. Commitments
Commitments for the acquisition of assets after the reporting date is as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 159,700 191,087 251,365

40. Contingent Liabilities
(1) Guarantees of obligations

Guarantees for borrowings from financial institutions to companies other than subsidiaries are as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Joint ventures 14,470 14,424 17,286

Associates 207 601 857

Other 21,279 18,936 20,595

Total 35,957 33,962 38,738

In addition to the above, guarantees of obligations that may arise in the future for associates are as follows:

(million yen)

Transition date (April 1, 2017) As of March 31, 2018 As of March 31, 2019

Guarantee limit for associates 9,958 11,568 11,605

(2) Litigation, etc.
There is no applicable item.

41. First-time Adoption
Starting from the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019, the Group is disclosing IFRS-compliant consolidated financial statements. The most recent consolidated 

financial statements prepared in accordance with Japanese GAAP are for the year ended March 31, 2018, and the date of transition to IFRS is April 1, 2017.

(1) Exemptions under IFRS 1
In principle, IFRS 1 requires companies applying IFRS for the first time to apply IFRS retrospectively, but some option exemptions are available.

Of the exemptions from retrospective application of IFRSs permitted by IFRS 1, the Group has elected the following:

(i) Business combinations
An entity may elect not to retrospectively apply IFRS 3 Business Combinations to business combinations that occurred before the date of transition to 

IFRS. The Group has elected not to apply IFRS 3 retrospectively. The amount of goodwill arising from business combinations before the transition date 

is based on the carrying amount under Japanese GAAP, and that goodwill has been tested for impairment as of the transition date regardless of 

whether any indication of impairment exists.

(ii) Deemed cost
An entity may measure property, plant and equipment and investment property at fair value at the date of transition to IFRS. The Group uses the fair 

value as of the transition date as the deemed cost under IFRS for certain property, plant and equipment and certain investment properties.

(iii) Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
An entity may elect to reset cumulative exchange differences on translation of foreign operations to zero as of the transition date. The Group has reset 

its cumulative exchange differences on translation of foreign operations to zero as of the transition date, with the entire amount being transferred to 

retained earnings.

(iv) Leases
An entity may elect to determine whether any arrangement contains a lease based on the facts and circumstances existing at the transition date. The 

Group has made such determinations based on the facts and circumstances existing at the transition date.

(v) Borrowing costs
An entity may elect to start capitalization of borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets on the date of transition to IFRS. The Group has elected to 

start capitalization of borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets on the transition date.

(vi) Designation of financial instruments recognized before the transition date
An entity may elect to make designations in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments based on the facts and circumstances existing at the 

transition date. The Group has made such designations based on the facts and circumstances existing at the transition date.
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(2) Reconciliations
The following reconciliations are required for first-time adoption of IFRS:

Items that do not affect retained earnings and comprehensive income are shown under “Reclassifications” and items that affect retained earnings or 

comprehensive income are shown under “Recognition and measurement differences.”

Figures based on Japanese GAAP (J-GAAP) as of the date of transition to IFRS and for the previous fiscal year reflect the retroactive application of 

“Partial Amendments to Accounting Standard for Tax Effect Accounting” (ASBJ Statement No. 28, February 16, 2018).

Reconciliation of equity as of April 1, 2017 (transition date)

(million yen)

J-GAAP item J-GAAP Reclassifications
Recognition and 
measurement 

differences
IFRS Notes IFRS item

Assets Assets

Current assets Current assets

Cash and deposits 69,936 (553) 825 70,209 (1) Cash and cash equivalents

Notes and accounts receivable 
– trade 798,058 (91,762) (21,000) 685,295 (2) (4) (6) Trade and other receivables

122,985 9,514 132,500 (4) Contract assets

Merchandise and finished goods 313,368 459,562 (15,138) 757,793 (3) (16) Inventories

Work in progress 50,834 (50,834) (3)

Raw materials and supplies 408,728 (408,728) (3)

6,827 (30) 6,796 Income taxes receivable

4,106 805 4,912 (1) (5) (6) Other financial assets

Other 131,625 (43,021) (19,732) 68,871 (2) Other current assets

Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,416) 1,416 (6)

Total current assets 1,771,135 – (44,755) 1,726,379 Total current assets

Non-current assets Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 1,650,879 (63,001) 73,246 1,661,123 (7) (9) (14) 
(16) Property, plant and equipment

5,137 – 5,137 Goodwill

Intangible assets 78,368 (7,916) (3,533) 66,918 Intangible assets

63,001 (2,598) 60,403 (7) (9) Investment property

Investments and other assets

Investments securities 372,196 (372,196)

Shares of subsidiaries and 
associates 349,864 (876) (16,559) 332,428 (14) Investments accounted for using 

equity method

Net defined benefit assets 13,067 – (1,843) 11,224 Retirement benefit asset

32,011 (4,337) 27,674 (12) Deferred tax assets

403,537 22,881 426,418 (5) (6) (15) Other financial assets

Other 78,591 (62,650) (4,417) 11,523 Other non-current assets

Allowance for doubtful 
accounts (2,953) 2,953 (6)

Non-current assets 2,540,014 – 62,838 2,602,853 Total non-current assets

Total assets 4,311,149 – 18,083 4,329,232 Total assets

J-GAAP item J-GAAP Reclassifications
Recognition and 
measurement 

differences
IFRS Notes IFRS item

Liabilities and equity

Liabilities Liabilities

Current liabilities Current liabilities

Notes and accounts payable 
– trade 446,645 53,597 24,484 524,727 (8) Trade and other payables

Short-term loans payable 204,379 59,396 7,991 271,767 Bonds payable, borrowings, and 
lease obligations

Commercial papers 8,000 (8,000)

Current portion of bonds 50,000 (50,000)

33,569 (103) 33,465 (4) Contract liabilities

15,346 809 16,155 Income taxes payable, etc.

8,561 61 8,622 Provisions

88,347 1,536 89,884 (5) Other financial liabilities

Other 330,432 (200,818) 57,402 187,016 (4) (8) (10) Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities 1,039,457 – 92,182 1,131,639 Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities Non-current liabilities

Bonds payable 75,000 1,050,012 28,741 1,153,753 Bonds payable, borrowings, and 
lease obligations

Long-term borrowings 1,038,089 (1,038,089)

Net defined benefit liabilities 123,745 – 244 123,989 Retirement benefit liability

50,483 (13,945) 36,537 (11) Provisions

18,941 (8,662) 10,279 (14) Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities for land 
revaluation 9,118 (9,118)

25,177 2,410 27,588 (5) Other financial liabilities

Other 100,581 (97,407) 6,023 9,197 (10) Other non-current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities 1,346,534 – 14,812 1,361,346 Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities 2,385,991 – 106,994 2,492,986 Total liabilities

Net assets Equity

Share capital 147,143 – – 147,143 Share capital

Capital surplus 646,582 – – 646,582 Capital surplus

Retained earnings 1,129,981 – (79,346) 1,050,635 (13) (17) Retained earnings

Treasury shares (178,853) – – (178,853) Treasury shares

Accumulated other 
comprehensive income 124,330 – (8,388) 115,941 (13) (14) 

(15) Other components of equity

1,781,449 Total equity attributable to owners 
of parent

Non-controlling interests 55,972 – (1,176) 54,796 Non-controlling interests

Total net assets 1,925,157 – (88,911) 1,836,245 Total equity

Total liabilities and net assets 4,311,149 – 18,083 4,329,232 Total liabilities and equity
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Reconciliation of equity as of March 31, 2018 (previous fiscal year)

(million yen)

J-GAAP item J-GAAP Reclassifications
Recognition and 
measurement 

differences
IFRS Notes IFRS item

Assets Assets

Current assets Current assets

Cash and deposits 76,111 (886) (107) 75,117 (1) Cash and cash equivalents

Notes and accounts receivable 
– trade 855,730 (78,251) (19,449) 758,029 (2) (4) (6) Trade and other receivables

110,491 16,443 126,935 (4) Contract assets

Merchandise and finished goods 351,961 498,378 (13,474) 836,865 (3) (16) Inventories

Work in progress 60,292 (60,292) (3)

Raw materials and supplies 438,086 (438,086) (3)

1,127 639 1,766 Income taxes receivable

4,976 2,181 7,157 (1) (5) (6) Other financial assets

Other 148,125 (39,644) (30,795) 77,684 (2) Other current assets

Allowance for doubtful accounts (2,188) 2,188 (6)

Total current assets 1,928,119 – (44,562) 1,883,556 Total current assets

Non-current assets Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 1,702,248 (62,280) 92,187 1,732,154 (7) (9) (14) 
(16) Property, plant and equipment

3,157 1,316 4,473 Goodwill

Intangible assets 83,724 (6,232) (4,328) 73,163 Intangible assets

62,280 (2,598) 59,682 (7) (9) Investment property

Investments and other assets

Investments securities 325,413 (325,413)

Shares of subsidiaries and 
associates 312,880 (1,662) (21,994) 289,223 (14) Investments accounted for using 

equity method

Net defined benefit assets 18,082 – (1,622) 16,459 Retirement benefit asset

29,296 (4,828) 24,467 (12) Deferred tax assets

354,102 39,566 393,668 (5) (6) (15) Other financial assets

Other 72,134 (54,939) (6,872) 10,322 Other non-current assets
Allowance for doubtful 
accounts (1,691) 1,691 (6)

Non-current assets 2,512,791 – 90,825 2,603,616 Total non-current assets

Total assets 4,440,910 – 46,262 4,487,173 Total assets

J-GAAP item J-GAAP Reclassifications
Recognition and 
measurement 

differences
IFRS Notes IFRS item

Liabilities and equity

Liabilities Liabilities

Current liabilities Current liabilities

Notes and accounts payable 
– trade 471,897 55,938 32,546 560,381 (8) Trade and other payables

Short-term loans payable 285,542 22,421 9,530 317,494 Bonds payable, borrowings, and 
lease obligations

Commercial papers 6,000 (6,000)

Current portion of bonds 15,000 (15,000)

52,547 1,040 53,588 (4) Contract liabilities

44,051 (450) 43,601 Income taxes payable, etc.

8,148 446 8,594 Provisions

90,713 1,898 92,612 (5) Other financial liabilities

Other 411,846 (252,820) 54,850 213,876 (4) (8) (10) Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities 1,190,286 – 99,862 1,290,149 Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities Non-current liabilities

Bonds payable 80,000 956,474 37,259 1,073,734 Bonds payable, borrowings, and 
lease obligations

Long-term borrowings 944,376 (944,376)

Net defined benefit liabilities 127,435 – 905 128,341 Retirement benefit liability

41,394 (5,479) 35,914 (11) Provisions

13,624 (8,461) 5,162 (14) Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities for land 
revaluation 9,113 (9,113)

18,451 3,658 22,109 (5) Other financial liabilities

Other 79,786 (76,454) 6,363 9,696 (10) Other non-current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities 1,240,712 – 34,246 1,274,959 Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities 2,430,999 – 134,109 2,565,108 Total liabilities

Net assets Equity

Share capital 147,143 – – 147,143 Share capital

Capital surplus 646,639 – (4) 646,634 Capital surplus

Retained earnings 1,211,796 – (73,704) 1,138,091 (13) (17) Retained earnings

Treasury shares (179,070) – – (179,070) Treasury shares

Accumulated other 
comprehensive income 123,065 – (13,157) 109,907 (13) (14) 

(15) Other components of equity

1,862,707 Total equity attributable to owners 
of parent

Non-controlling interests 60,337 – (980) 59,357 Non-controlling interests

Total net assets 2,009,911 – (87,846) 1,922,065 Total equity

Total liabilities and net 4,440,910 – 46,262 4,487,173 Total liabilities and equity

assets 
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Notes to reconciliation of equity

Reclassifications

Reclassifications consist mainly of the following:

(1) Cash and cash equivalents

Time deposits with a term of more than three months, which were included in “Cash and deposits” under Japanese GAAP, are included in “Other 

financial assets (current)” under IFRS.

(2) Trade and other receivables

Accounts receivable included in “Other” in current assets under Japanese GAAP are included in “Trade and other receivables” under IFRS.

(3) Inventories

“Merchandise and finished goods,” “Work in progress,” and “Raw materials and supplies” were presented as separate items under Japanese GAAP; 

under IFRS, they are presented in “Inventories.”

(4) Contract assets and contract liabilities

Some receivables included in “Notes and accounts receivables - trade” under Japanese GAAP are reclassified to “Contract assets” under IFRS; and 

advances received included in “Other” in current liabilities under Japanese GAAP are reclassified to “Contract liabilities” under IFRS.

(5) Other financial assets and other financial liabilities

In accord with IFRS presentation requirements, “Other financial assets” and “Other financial liabilities” are presented as separate items.

(6) Allowance for doubtful accounts

“Allowance for doubtful accounts (current)” was presented as a separate item under Japanese GAAP; under IFRS, it is deducted directly from “Trade 

and other receivables” and “Other financial assets (current)” and thus presented on a net basis. Similarly, “Allowance for doubtful accounts (non-

current)” is deducted directly from “Other financial assets (non-current)” and thus presented on a net basis.

(7) Investment property

In accord with IFRS presentation rules, “Investment property” has been reclassified from “Property, plant and equipment.”

(8) Trade and other payables

Accounts payable included in “Other” in current liabilities under Japanese GAAP are included in “Trade and other payables” under IFRS.

Recognition and measurement differences

Recognition and measurement differences consist mainly of the following:

(9) Deemed cost

The Group has elected to use the exemption that permits it to measure some property, plant and equipment and some investment property at fair 

value at the date of transition to IFRS. “Property, plant and equipment” and “Investment property” decreased as a result.

The fair value at the transition date and the Japanese-GAAP carrying amounts for property, plant and equipment and investment property for 

which deemed cost is used are, respectively, 42,047 million yen and 83,425 million yen. Fair value is based on a valuation by an independent valuer 

who holds a recognized and relevant professional qualification, and is classified as Level 3.

(10) Paid leave payable, etc.

Paid leave payable was not recognized as a liability under Japanese GAAP; under IFRS, it is recognized as a liability and “Other current liabilities” 

has therefore increased. Rewards and the like granted based on years of service were not recognized as a liability under Japanese GAAP; under 

IFRS, they are recognized as a liability and “Other non-current liabilities” has therefore increased.

(11) Provisions

Under Japanese GAAP, future expenses that met certain requirements were recognized as provisions; some of these provisions have been 

derecognized because they did not meet the IFRS requirements for provisions. Also, some future expenses that were not recognized as provisions 

under Japanese GAAP meet the IFRS requirements for provisions and are therefore now recognized as provisions. All told, these changes have 

caused “Provisions” to decrease.

(12) Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

Under Japanese GAAP, the deferred method was applied to the tax effects of eliminations of internal unrealized gains; under IFRS, the asset-liability 

method is applied. Also, in conjunction with its adoption of IFRS, the Company has reevaluated the recoverability of deferred tax assets. As a result 

of the above, “Deferred tax assets” has decreased.

(13) Other components of equity

The Group has elected to use the exemption for first-time adopters specified in IFRS 1 that permits it to transfer the cumulative exchange differences 

on translation of foreign operations as of the date of transition to IFRS to retained earnings. Also, under Japanese GAAP, actuarial differences arising 

from defined benefit plans are amortized over a fixed period starting from the year following that in which they occurred; under IFRS, they are 

recognized in other comprehensive income when they occur and immediately transferred to retained earnings.

(14) Revaluation reserve for land

Under Japanese GAAP, some land for business purposes was revaluated based on the Act on Revaluation of Land (Act No. 34 of March 31, 1998) 

and the Act for the Partial Revision of the Act on Revaluation of Land (Act No. 19 of March 31, 2001), with the amount equivalent to the tax on the 

valuation difference recognized in “Deferred tax liabilities for revaluation” in liabilities, and the “Land revaluation difference” recognized as a 

component of net assets. On the date of transition to IFRS, “Deferred tax liabilities for revaluation” and “Land revaluation difference” were reversed 

and the book value of the land reverted to its book value before revaluation. As a result, “Property, plant and equipment,” “Investments accounted 

for using equity method,” “Deferred tax liabilities,” and “Other components of equity” decreased.

(15) Unlisted equity securities and investments

Under Japanese GAAP, unlisted equity securities and investments were valued using the moving-average cost method; under IFRS, they are 

measured at fair value, and thus “Other financial assets (non-current)” and “Other components of equity” have increased.

(16) Replacement parts, spare equipment, and maintenance equipment

Some replacement parts, spare equipment, and maintenance equipment included in “Supplies” under Japanese GAAP meet the definition of 

property, plant and equipment under IFRS and are therefore recognized in “Property, plant and equipment.” As a result, “Production supplies” has 

decreased and “Property, plant and equipment” has increased.

(17) Retained earnings

(million yen)

Transition date 
April 1, 2017

Previous fiscal year 
March 31, 2018

Deemed cost (40,866) (40,866)

Reconciliation of paid leave payable, etc. (21,002) (22,716)

Reconciliation of provisions 14,858 7,488

Reconciliation of deferred tax assets and 
deferred tax liabilities (13,450) (11,396)

Reconciliation of other components of equity (8,558) 4,526

Other (10,326) (10,739)

Total reconciliations to retained earnings (79,346) (73,704)

Note: The reconciliation amounts for each item reflect tax effects.
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Reconciliation of profit/loss and comprehensive income for the previous fiscal year (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018)

Consolidated statement of profit or loss items
(million yen)

J-GAAP item J-GAAP Reclassifications
Recognition and 
measurement 

differences
IFRS Notes IFRS item

Net sales 3,678,612 (337) (51,025) 3,627,248 (3) Revenue

Cost of sales (3,096,019) 230 41,400 (3,054,388) (3) Cost of sales

Gross profit 582,592 (107) (9,624) 572,860 Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative 
expenses (335,923) (756) (269) (336,949) Selling, general and administrative 

expenses

(8,732) (1,441) (10,173) (1) Share of loss of entities accounted 
for using the equity method

30,811 (191) 30,619 (1) Other income

(38,455) 476 (37,979) (1) Other expenses

218,378 Business profit

(28,496) 43 (28,453) (1) Impairment losses

– (18,717) (18,717) (4) Loss on remeasurement of retained 
interest

(3,850) – (3,850) (1) Expenses for treatment of PCB 
waste

Operating income 246,669 (49,586) (29,725) 167,357 Operating profit

Non-operating income 32,303 (32,303) (1)

Non-operating expenses (62,633) 62,633 (1)

Ordinary income 216,339

Extraordinary income 29,388 (29,388) (1)

Extraordinary losses (32,346) 32,346 (1)

30,880 (29,334) 1,546 (1) (5) Finance income

(15,338) (687) (16,026) (1) Finance costs

Profit before income taxes 213,381 (756) (59,747) 152,877 Profit before tax

Income taxes - current (60,616) (2,021) 12,913 (49,723) (2) (6) Income tax expense

Income taxes - deferred (2,777) 2,777 (2)

Profit 149,987 – (46,834) 103,153 Profit

Profit attributable to

Profit attributable to owners of 
parent 144,638 – (47,003) 97,635 Owners of parent

Profit attributable to non-controlling 
interests 5,349 – 169 5,518 Non-controlling interests

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income items                                                                                                                (million yen)

J-GAAP item J-GAAP Reclassifications
Recognition and 
measurement 

differences
IFRS Notes IFRS item

Profit 149,987 – (46,834) 103,153 Profit

Other comprehensive income Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss

Remeasurements of defined 
benefit plans, net of tax 5,657 – (1,146) 4,510 Remeasurements of defined 

benefit plans

Valuation difference on available-
for-sale securities (21,736) – 35,487 13,751 (5)

Net change in fair value of equity 
instruments designated as 
measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income

1,380 (778) 602

Share of other comprehensive 
income of investments 
accounted for using equity 
method

Items that may be reclassified to 
profit or loss

Foreign currency translation 
adjustment 234 – (2,332) (2,098) Exchange differences on 

translation of foreign operations

Deferred gains (losses) on 
hedges (286) – 2,935 2,649 Effective portion of cash flow 

hedges

Share of other comprehensive 
income of investments 
accounted for using the equity 
method

15,745 (1,380) (12,829) 1,535

Share of other comprehensive 
income of investments 
accounted for using equity 
method

Total other comprehensive income (385) – 21,336 20,950 Total other comprehensive income

Comprehensive income 149,602 – (25,498) 124,104 Comprehensive income

Notes to reconciliation of profit/loss and comprehensive income

Reclassifications

Reclassifications consist mainly of the following:

(1) Reconciliation of display items

Of those items presented in “Non-operating income,” “Non-operating expenses,” and “Extraordinary income” under Japanese GAAP, finance-related 

gains and losses are recognized in “Finance income” and “Finance costs” under IFRS, and other items are presented in “Other income,” “Other 

expenses,” and “Share of loss of entities accounted for using the equity method.” Items presented in “Extraordinary loss” under Japanese GAAP are 

presented in “Impairment losses” and “Expenses for treatment of PCB waste” under IFRS.

(2) Income tax expense

Under Japanese GAAP, “Income taxes - current” and “Income taxes - deferred” were presented as separate items; under IFRS, they are presented 

collectively in “Income tax expense.”

Recognition and measurement differences

Recognition and measurement differences consist mainly of the following:

(3) Revenue and cost of sales

Under Japanese GAAP, the total amount of transactions in which the Group is involved as an agent is presented as sales; under IFRS, revenue is 

presented on a net basis for transactions in which the Group is determined to be involved as an agent. As a result, “Revenue” and “Cost of sales” 

have decreased. In adopting IFRS, the Group also reviewed the scope of application of the equity method. Some companies to which the equity 

method was applied under Japanese GAAP are now recognized as joint operations, resulting in an increase in “Revenue” and “Cost of sales.”

(4) Loss on remeasurement of remaining interest

Under Japanese GAAP, remaining interests in investments for which application of the equity method was discontinued were accounted for by 

recognizing the difference between the carrying amount and the carrying amount on the separate balance as a decrease in retained earnings. 

Under IFRS, such residual interests are measured at fair value, and the difference versus the carrying amount is recognized in profit or loss.
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(5) Finance income

Under Japanese GAAP, gains and losses on sales of equity financial assets were recognized in net profit and loss. Under IFRS, changes in fair value 

are recognized in other comprehensive income, resulting in a decrease in “Finance income.”

(6) Income tax expense

The amount of “Income tax expense” has been adjusted owing to temporary differences arising from the transition from Japanese GAAP to IFRS. 

This resulted in a decrease in “Income tax expense.”

Reconciliation of cash flows for the previous fiscal year (April 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018)

The differences between the consolidated cash flow statements disclosed under Japanese GAAP and the consolidated cash flow statements disclosed 

under IFRS are mainly attributable to some replacement parts, spare equipment, and maintenance equipment included in “Supplies” under Japanese 

GAAP being recognized in “Property, plant and equipment” under IFRS because they meet the definition of property, plant and equipment under IFRS. 

As a result, cash flows from operating activities increased and cash flows from investing activities decreased.

42. Subsequent Events
On May 27, 2019, the Company issued unsecured bonds (with inter-bond pari passu clause) under the following terms and conditions:

1. Name of bonds
JFE Holdings, Inc. 

The 27th Unsecured Bond 
(with inter-bond pari passu clause)

JFE Holdings, Inc.
 The 28th Unsecured Bond 

(with inter-bond pari passu clause)

JFE Holdings, Inc. 
The 29th Unsecured Bond

 (with inter-bond pari passu clause)

2. Issue amount 30 billion yen 10 billion yen 20 billion yen

3. Coupon rate 0.170% 0.260% 0.365%

4. Issue price 100% of the principal amount

5. Maturity date May 27, 2024 May 27, 2026 May 25, 2029

6. Closing date May 27, 2019

7. Redemption The Bonds will be redeemed in full upon maturity; provided, however, that the Bonds may also be repurchased and 
redeemed at any time on or after the following day of the issue date.

8. Collateral or guarantee Unsecured and not guaranteed

9. Use of proceeds Appropriated to the working capital of JFE Steel Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

(2) Other
(Significant lawsuits, etc.)

There is no applicable item.

(Quarterly information for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019)

(Cumulative period)) Three months ended June 
30, 2018

Six months ended September 
30, 2018

Nine months ended 
December 31, 2018

Fiscal year ended March 
31, 2019

Net sales (million yen) 936,336 1,907,261 2,939,182 3,961,762

Profit before income taxes 
(million yen) 79,557 143,500 195,457 209,927

Profit attributable to owners of 
parent (million yen) 61,430 110,485 151,060 164,218

Earnings per share (yen) 106.56 191.70 262.17 285.04

(Accounting period) First quarter(From April 1, 
2018 to June 30, 2018)

Second quarter(From July 1, 
2018 to September 30, 2018)

Third quarter(From October 1, 
2018 to December 31, 2018)

Fourth quarter(From January 
1, 2019 to March 31, 2019)

Profit per share (yen) 106.56 85.14 70.46 22.85

Notes: 1. Quarterly information for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019 has been prepared under Japanese GAAP.

2.  An audit or review pursuant to Paragraph 1, Article 193-2 of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act has not been conducted for the information 

for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019 and the fourth quarter accounting period.

3.  The Company has instituted share-based payment plans since the second quarter accounting period. The Company shares held in trust accounts 

are included in treasury shares, which are excluded from the calculation of the average number of shares during the period, when computing profit 

per share for the fiscal year and each quarter accounting period.
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